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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this annual
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (collectively the “Directors” and each the “Director”) of Modern Living
Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we”, “our” or "us”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report
misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRE

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Modern Living
Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual result of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group
has demonstrated outstanding performance in the review period, being
awarded 6 new contracts through our robust and effective strategies and
the dedicated efforts of our team. This accomplishment highlights our
strong competitive edge in the market. Under the Group's existing property
management portfolio as at 31 December 2024, it has 17 public housing
estates and 11 Home Ownership Scheme (“HOS") estates awarded by the
Hong Kong Housing Authority (“HA").

FUTURE STRATEGY AND DIRECTION

With the measures outlined in the government’s 2024 Policy Address,
including the ongoing development of “Light Public Housing” and public
rental housing redevelopment initiatives to increase public housing supply,
we anticipate a rise in demand for public housing property management
services. Drawing on our extensive experience, professional approach, and
dedication to delivering high-quality property management services to the
community, the Group will actively seek to bid for more contracts, aiming
for promising growth and development opportunities.

In the coming year, we will continue to advance the integration of
information technology and smart solutions within the traditional
property management sector, aspiring to realize the vision of intelligent
property management gradually. The Group is committed to continuously
improving service quality, addressing the needs of residents, and creating
a harmonious and pleasant living environment. Leveraging the synergies
with our parent company, Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (“Asia
Allied Infrastructure”) (Stock Code: 00711), the Board is confident
in the Group’s ability to expand its property management portfolio and
increase its market share promptly. The Group will focus on capitalizing on
opportunities in residential and/or commercial properties from both public
and private sectors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all the directors, the
management team, and dedicated staff for their remarkable contributions
and unwavering commitment during the review period. | also extend my
sincere appreciation to our shareholders, business partners, and clients,
whose steadfast support has been crucial to our success. The Group will
continue to strengthen its business foundation strive for innovation, and
remain steadfast in creating greater value for all stakeholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Our Group is a property management service provider for public housing
in Hong Kong. The Group’s property management services include (i)
estate management services (entailing general management, tenancy
management, financial management, minor repairs and maintenance
as well as project management services); (ii) security services; and (iii)
cleaning services. Given that property management services are a social
necessity, they are relatively insulated from economic fluctuations. With a
robust business foundation and flexible operational strategies, the Group
has sustained its growth, achieving commendable financial results during
the review period, with revenue amounting to HK$379.11 million (2023:
HK$334.24 million), marking an overall revenue increase of 13.42%. The
profit before income tax for the year increased to approximately HK$20.25
million (2023: HK$19.82 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's existing property management
portfolio comprises 17 public housing estates owned by the Hong Kong
HA and 11 HOS estates awarded by the HA which 6 were newly awarded
during the review period. The contracts on hand typically span 2 to 5 years,
reflecting stable business operations. Among the newly signed contracts,
3 officially commenced service in second half of 2024, while the others are
tentatively scheduled to be rolled out progressively in the first half of 2025.

During the review period, the Group achieved a critical milestone in its
development strategy by becoming a subsidiary of Asia Allied Infrastructure
through acquisition. This acquisition leverages the strengths and expertise
of both parties within the industry, creating powerful synergies to capitalize
on the government’s commitment to increasing housing supply over the
next decade. This strategic move aims to expand market share and secure
a leading position in the industry. Backed by the parent company’s well-
established brand image and extensive influence, which serve as a solid
foundation, along with the Group’s continuous business growth, the
company is well-positioned to explore further development opportunities in
the public housing market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DT

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

To foster advancement within society and the property management
sector, and to elevate service quality, the Group initiated Hong Kong's
first collaborative research initiative involving the “government-industry-
academia-research” sectors. This pioneering project aims to develop an
innovative property management platform utilizing digital twin technology,
ushering in a new era of smart property management. The initiative seeks
to integrate cutting-edge technology into property management services,
enhancing the sustainable development and competitiveness of Hong
Kong's property management industry, while also addressing facility
management challenges faced by traditional property management firms.

During the review period, the platform successfully piloted in selecting
shopping malls to gather data, with aspirations to improve indoor air
quality and facility management efficiency. The platform will continue to be
refined to boost public satisfaction with property management services and
will eventually be expanded to cover other property management services,
aiming to raise the overall standard of the industry.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately 13.42% from
approximately HK$334.24 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$379.11 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The following table sets out the number of properties the Group was
contracted to provide services to as at 31 December 2024.

Types of properties
L E Rl

(1) Public housing estates (excluding HOS estates)
AHEEW(TRIEREEFTEIED)

(2) HOS estates
EEEIEM.

Other Income

Other income decreased by approximately HK$2.03 million from
approximately HK$3.85 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$1.82 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in Anti-Epidemic subsidies
received from the Hong Kong government during the year.

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

¥ OEE )

RIEBHENYEETRRFINES - AR
REER  AEERRTEEMEEERR
BIEBRESH]EGERRE - REMERZE—(E
ERBWBOERMONEEENEERTE
REFBDRCMAR —H - ZHBBEIF K
MEAMEERRY  SERNBBEVEE
BITENAIRFERRMBZES ) - BEERE
B E B IE R AT AR 5 e IR R S 2R
PR E -

CIEEHA - ZYMEEEF 2RI AERIE
SERARETAALKRESHEE - &S
BEERAREAEANZREZLREE R
B E o F AR AIB AR E Y E
BERBHMEE  REITBEAEANE
EEERS £ - IR TENERKFE -

Bt 7% [B] B8

Uy 2=

AEBEMWZEHEE2023F12 A31BIEHF
€ 4)334,240,000 7 JT & N 47 13.42% = &,

F£2024% 12 A31 8 Ik F[E 4379,110,000
HIT °

TREF|AREBNR2024F12 831 B2 &
RIEREAMESRE -

Number of estates/
contracts

B3,/ aHHE

Hip g A

HiW ABEZ=2023F12 A31BLEFELD
3,850,000 T, 4> 472,030,000 B T EE &=
202412 A 31 HIEFE 41,820,000 7T ©
BRI EEHRFANA S S BUTIER
R PUE FE BB D FTER ©



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

Other Losses, Net

Other losses decreased by approximately HK$0.44 million from
approximately HK$0.97 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$0.53 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
decrease was mainly attributable to a loss on acquisition of a subsidiary has
been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Employee Benefits Expenses

Employee benefits expenses comprised staff costs of the Group’s (i) estate
management staff, which mainly included staff for general management,
tenancy management, financial management, project management, repairs
and maintenance, management and headquarters; (ii) security staff; and
(iii) cleaning staff. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,677
employees (2023: 1,579 employees).

The total employee benefits expenses amounted to approximately
HK$343.49 million (2023: HK$301.08 million) for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing approximately 90.61% (2023: 90.08%) of
the Group's revenue. The total employee benefits expenses increased by
approximately 14.09% for the year ended 31 December 2024 from last
year. Such increase was mainly attributable to increase of certain property
management services contracts during the year.

Retirement Benefits Scheme

The Group joins a mandatory provident fund (“MPF"”) scheme in
accordance with the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the MPF
Scheme, the Group is required to make contributions to the scheme at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of the Group’s
contributions to the aforementioned pension schemes was approximately
HK$11.45 million (2023: HK$10.40 million). As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, there is no unutilised forfeited contribution which could be utilised
to reduce future contributions of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Cleaning Material Costs

The cleaning material costs amounted to approximately HK$2.45 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$2.77 million), representing a
decrease of 11.55% as compared with last year. The decrease was mainly
attributable to HA offered six months of free plastic bags to property services
agents during the year for the households under public housing estates.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses amounted to approximately HK$16.72 million
(2023: HK$14.75 million) for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately 13.36% from last year. Other
operating expenses mainly included insurance expense, office supplies
expenses, security charges for specialist guard company to escort money
in transit, guarantee fee for performance bonds, entertainment, travelling
expense and estate maintenance expenses.

The increase in other operating expenses was mainly attributable to
increase in professional fee incurred for the merge and acquisition
transaction with Asia Allied Infrastructure.

The breakdown of other operating expenses recorded for the year ended
31 December 2024 together with the comparative figures for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

B % Bl (#)

B R MR K AR

REZE2024F 12831 B IEFEHBEZ
R AR 49 A& 2,450,000 7 7T (2023 4F ¢
2,770,000/ 70) * BREAFH 2 11.55% ° 3%
BAPETEHREZERNYEEERER A
RESNEANGEBRRTFRALEMES -

Hitp Q&R
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B4 /416,720,000 7T (20234 :
14,750,000/ 70) * B EFHEIMNAI 13.36% °
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T BEEFRRRERINREZE  BOR
BEMERE  BESEEREREBARERRE
X e

Hp&EMEmMHET2aRN BT MBS
HERETHBERISMELNEXEMREM -

HE2024F 12 31 HIEFEHBHEHMK
BB EREZE2023F12 A31HIE
FEMLLREFMOT

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

HZ20245 HE2023F

12A31H 12A31H

LFEE HEE

HKS$ ('000) HK$ ('000)

TET FHT

Auditor’s remuneration ZERT B & 880 1,300
Insurance and guarantee fee R RERE 6,442 6,547
Office supplies NI 848 952
Security expenses REME 351 243
Entertainment and travelling expenses BERERERBX 1,716 1,371
Estate maintenance expenses EHRERS 373 385
Professional fee EEEH 3,225 1,478
Uniform & laundry AR B2 1K 525 496
Others HAh 2,356 1,979
Total st 16,716 14,751
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Finance Income, net

Net finance income amounted to approximately HK$5.11 million (2023:
HK$4.75 million) for the year ended 31 December 2024. The increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in interest income derived from bank
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense amounted to approximately HK$3.29 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$2.04 million). Profit before
income tax amounted to approximately HK$20.25 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 compared with approximately HK$19.82 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company

Profit for the year decreased from approximately HK$17.77 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$16.97 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, mainly due to decrease in Anti-Epidemic
subsidies received from the Hong Kong government during the year. Total
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted
to approximately HK$14.02 million as compared with approximately
HK$17.89 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

OUTLOOK

In this era of rapid technological advancement, the application of digital
technology and robotics is transforming property management practices,
leading to significant breakthroughs. Concurrently, the government
is promoting the concept of smart estate management. The Group
is committed to harnessing leading-edge technologies such as digital
twin technology, big data analytics, and artificial intelligence, while also
embedding sustainable development to boost our market competitiveness
and broaden our service scope. Our vision is to establish new industry
benchmarks through innovation and technological advancement,
facilitating comprehensive improvements in property management,
security, and environmental management, thereby contributing to social
welfare.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DT

OUTLOOK (Continued)

With the government’s commitment to increasing public housing supply
and expediting redevelopment plans, the Group recognizes the potential
and responsibility within the industry. The Hong Kong government’s 2024
policy address indicates an anticipated supply of up to 189,000 public
housing units over the next 5 years (2025-26 to 2029-30), along with the
active redevelopment of ten public housing estates that could yield around
32,800 new residential units. These initiatives will provide substantial
business growth opportunities and drive demand for technological
innovations in the public housing property management sector.

Looking to the future, our group will continue to focus on sustainable
development, integrating the concept of smart cities to jointly promote
social progress. We will embrace new opportunities with an optimistic
attitude and leverage our years of industry experience to continuously
optimize our management model and enhance our employees’ professional
skills and service levels. Through innovation and breakthroughs, we aim to
respond more effectively to market changes and provide our clients with
exceptional service experience. At the same time, we will strengthen our
collaboration with the industry, government, and other stakeholders to
create greater social value.

DIVIDENDS

The directors have declared and paid the interim dividend of HK1.40 cents
per ordinary share, totalling HK$11.20 million during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$6.00 million).

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.40 cents

per ordinary share, totalling HK$11.20 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$5.00 million).

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

B2 )

PEEBTIEMAEFEEHERMNREE
B AEBRARHETENBHEEE -
RIS BB TR 2024 EHE RS F AR
RS54 (2025-26 & 2029-304F &) Tt 1%
HJE % £ 189,000k R &R |2 » [7 B F& 1%
OTEAEEEMNERIIE BB IR
#H4932,800AEEEM - ELBEBBQ
EEEMEETEITETREANEREER
Z= FE) B AR T BT B 5K o

RERK  AEERBEET TN HEER
W FEESEMER  BFHESHLe
W ARBREDREEHEE  XRE
ZEZ|MNTELR  HEESLEEEN
R B THEXREE M REKF - B3 iEBE
FANZRAK - A5 [B BE A A JE B T 5
b YREFPRESBHREER R
HAR MR RRA - B REMRFHENS
- AEE R EEE-

Hi /%\

BEEEERMKRMNEZE2024F12 83181k
FEMPHRESR LB 1408 - &3
11,200,000 7 7T (2023 £ : 6,000,000 7T) ©

FEeESERNEE2024F12 A31 B IEEF
ERREEEERERBR1.4081 &F
11,200,000 7 7T (2023 4E : 5,000,000 7% 7T ) °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR D

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

RBEERUBER

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Financial position B # AR R
Current assets mENE E 212,156 200,753
Current liabilities mEEE 64,778 51,750
Net current assets MENEEFE 147,378 149,003
Total assets BwEE 220,109 209,529
Total liabilities waeE 66,110 53,353
Short term bank deposits G ERSRTTIA X 70,758 60,408
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMBSEEY 23,840 11,556
Pledged bank deposits EEMBITHEK 39,519 39,550
Total equity wEs 153,999 156,176
Key financial ratios FEFHLE =
Return on equity ™ot R 7 120 3 =R (it 1) 11.02% 11.38%
Return on total assets ot 2 48 & o] 3y 3 (H22) 7.71% 8.48%
Current ratio (ote 3 Tt B bt 2 ek 3.28 times &%  3.88 times 12
Gearing ratio et 4 BEBEL KW 0.90% 1.45%
Notes: Haz -
1. Return on equity is calculated as the profit for the year divided by total equity. 1. R 7R [B] 3 2 T3 % 6 P00 B BR A M e st . o
2, Return on total assets is calculated as the profit for the year divided by total assets. 2. BEERRETIEFARFBRABEETE -
3. Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current liabilities. 3. B E TSR B A E AR AR B B EAREH -

4. Gearing ratio is calculated as the total debt divided by total equity. Total debt represents 4. BEABLEDNEEBAERNEERTE &
lease liabilities. BREEHEAE -

The current ratio as at 31 December 2024 was 3.28 times as compared to 7220244 12 531 BM BNt R 53.28f5 -
that of 3.88 times as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due M/ 20234 12 A31H 8] 43.881% - A BER
to the increase in provision for gratuity during the year ended 31 December D EZERHREE2024F 12 A31BILFE
2024. B <& 1%t 3 A1

KEZREERERAR 2024FERE 11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's cash and cash equivalents were
approximately HK$23.84 million (2023: approximately HK$11.56 million).
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no borrowings during the year
(2023: nil).

The gearing ratio decreased to approximately 0.90% as at 31 December
2024 from approximately 1.45% as at 31 December 2023, mainly due
to the decrease in lease liabilities during the year ended 31 December
2024. With the availability of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities,
the Group has sufficient liquidity to satisfy its funding requirements. The
Directors are of the view that the Group's financial position is solid.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Since the Listing on 10 November 2017 (the “Listing Date”), there has
been no change in the capital structure of the Company. The share capital
of the Group only comprises ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$8,000,000 and the number of issued ordinary shares was 800,000,000
of HK$0.01 each. The number of total issued shares of the Company
remained unchanged during the year ended 31 December 2024.

COMMITMENT

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group did not have other material commitment.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any plans for material
investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR D

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group held investment in an insurance contract of approximately
HK$2.66 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$2.60 million). The
gain on investment in an insurance contract amounted to approximately
HK$0.06 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$0.09
million). Other than the insurance contract as mentioned above, the Group
did not have other significant investment as at 31 December 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group did not have other material contingent liabilities.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The Group’s revenue generating operations are mainly transacted in Hong
Kong Dollar. The Directors consider that the impact of foreign exchange
exposure to the Group is minimal. The Group had not entered into any
foreign exchange hedging contracts for the year ended 31 December
2024.

CHARGE OF GROUP'S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has pledged its bank deposits of
approximately HK$39.52 million (2023: approximately HK$39.55 million)
and investment in an insurance contract of approximately HK$2.66
million (2023: approximately HK$2.60 million) to a bank for securing
its performance bonds of approximately HK$69.99 million (2023:
approximately HK$64.44 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,677 employees (2023:
1,579 employees). The Group’s employee benefits expenses for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$343.49 million
(2023: HK$301.08 million). To ensure that the Group is able to attract
and retain Directors and staff capable of attaining the best performance
levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular basis. In addition,
discretionary bonus is offered to eligible employees by reference to the
Group's results and individual performance.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group did not have other material subsequent event.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEREERNBEEFTE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick JP, aged 49, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of the board of directors on 6 March
2024 and 2 April 2024 respectively. Ir Dr. Pang is responsible for the
strategic plannings, overall management and supervision of operation of
the Group. He graduated from the University of California, Berkeley in the
United States in 1997 with a Bachelor of Science degree and obtained a
Master of Engineering degree in Civil and Environmental Engineering from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the United States in 1998 and a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 2007. He also obtained a Doctor of Philosophy in Civil
Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 2014. He is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United
Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered
Professional Engineer in the State of California, United States. He has over
23 years of geotechnical design and construction experience in the United
States and Hong Kong. He has been appointed as a council member of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University since April 2021, a member of the
Aviation Development and Three-runway System Advisory Committee since
August 2021, a non-executive director of the Insurance Authority since
December 2021 and a director of the Hong Kong Cyberport Management
Company Limited since April 2023. He was appointed as Justice of the
Peace by the Government of Hong Kong in June 2017.

Ir Dr. Pang joined Asia Allied Infrastructure in 2001 and has been appointed
as the executive director of Asia Allied Infrastructure since April 2010 and
acted as the deputy chairman of Asia Allied Infrastructure from April 2010
to March 2017. He has been appointed as the chief executive officer of
Asia Allied Infrastructure since April 2017 and acted as the chief operating
officer of Asia Allied Infrastructure from April 2017 to January 2019. Ir Dr.
Pang is the younger brother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEBNEBERS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, aged 52, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer on 6 March 2024 and
2 April 2024 respectively. Mr. Pang is responsible for the overall business
development, strategic planning and major decision-making of the Group.
He is one of the ultimate beneficial owner of Chun Wo Overseas Holdings
Limited (“Chun Wo Overseas”), the controlling shareholder of the
Company. He graduated from Columbia University, New York in 1995 with
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, Political Science and Mathematics,
and obtained a Juris Doctorate from the New York University School of
Law in 1998 and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree
from Kellogg-HKUST in 2010. In 2023, he was conferred an Honorary
Fellowship by City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Pang has been appointed
as a vice president of Belt & Road General Chamber of Commerce in April
2018, a member of council of the Vocational Training Council in July
2019, the chairman of Executive Board of the Hong Kong Real Property
Federation since September 2019, a council member of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong since May 2022 and the non-executive director of
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority since March 2023.

Mr. Pang has more than 22 years of experience in the construction
industry and corporate management. In 2003, Mr. Pang joined Asia Allied
Infrastructure, and was appointed as the assistant to the late chairman
of Asia Allied Infrastructure. Mr. Pang was appointed as the chairman
and executive director of Asia Allied Infrastructure in April 2010 and re-
designated as the co-chairman and non-executive director of Asia Allied
Infrastructure in January 2015. He has been further redesignated as the
chairman and executive director of Asia Allied Infrastructure since March
2017. Mr. Pang is the elder brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

Mr. Ho Chu Ming, aged 66, was designated as an executive Director on
14 July 2017. He joined the Group in January 2005 and was appointed
as a Director on 6 July 2017. Mr. Ho was the chairman of the Board from
July 2017 to April 2024. Mr. Ho is responsible for the management of the
overall business development of the Group.

Mr. Ho has over 31 years of experience in the property management and
maintenance industries. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in building
technology and management from The University of Salford, the United
Kingdom, in July 1986. Mr. Ho has been a professional associate of the
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors since October 1987 and March 1989, respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREEBNEBEFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Ng Fuk Wah, aged 65, has been designated as an executive Director
on 14 July 2017. Mr. Ng joined the Group in July 2007 and was appointed
as a Director on 6 July 2017. He was the chief executive officer of the
Company from July 2017 to April 2024. Mr. Ng is responsible for the
management of the overall business development of the Group.

Mr. Ng has over 30 years of experience in the property management
industry and obtained his professional diploma in accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1983 and a diploma in
housing management from the School of Professional and Continuing
Education of The University of Hong Kong (HKU SPACE) in September
2002. Mr. Ng was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Society of
Accountants (currently known as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants) in October 1986. He was admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Housing in December 2002 and was registered as a
professional housing manager of the Housing Managers Registration Board
in August 2003.

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry, aged 56, has been appointed as an executive
Director on 6 March 2024. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law of the
China University of Political Science and Law, a Master’s degree in Business
Administration of Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and a
Master of Laws degree in International Economic Law of City University of
Hong Kong. He was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in 1994 and a senior
economist in the PRC in 2003. Mr. Xu has over 25 years of corporate
management experience and extensive experience in transactions of
mergers and acquisitions and investment and financing. He was a
director of a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and two
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Xu has
been appointed as the co-chairman and an executive director of Asia Allied
Infrastructure since January 2015, and has been redesignated as the deputy
chairman of Asia Allied Infrastructure since March 2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREEBNEBEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Kee Fat, Ronny, aged 77, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 24 October 2017. He is primarily responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Ronny Ng was a former employee of the Hong Kong Housing
Department (the “Housing Department”). He has over 44 years of
experience in property management of public rental housing estates and
shopping centres. Mr. Ronny Ng retired from the Housing Department
in January 2007 and his last position was senior housing manager. Mr.
Ronny Ng was a fellow of Chartered Institute of Housing from June 1991
to March 2006 and member of Hong Kong Institute of Housing from
1993 to 2006. Mr. Ronny Ng is also a registered professional housing
manager from 2000 to 2007. He was awarded the Medal of Honour by
the government in 2006. Mr. Ronny Ng completed the certificate course in
Housing Management offered by the Department of Extra-mural Studies of
the University of Hong Kong in 1978.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREREBNEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIYFEHITESE )

(Continued)

EHEEE 735 R2021F 10 A 18 B EXR
EABIERITES -

Mr. Wong Bay, aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 18 October 2021.
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Mr. Wong has over 43 years of experience in the real estate industry. In
November 2010, Mr. Wong was appointed Associate Professor of the
Department of Real Estate and Construction of The University of Hong
Kong. Prior to joining The University of Hong Kong, Mr. Wong worked
in the following departments of the Hong Kong Government and the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China:

Name of department

BMFIERE

Principal business activities

ETRERED

Position

B AL

Period of Services

PR 7% £ 58

Public Works Department

IHEE

Housing Department

FEZ

Housing Department

FEZ

Finance Bureau

BB

Housing Department

FEZ

Housing Department

FEZ

Building maintenance and
improvements

BFRENKE

Estate maintenance,
improvements and
project management

EWRE HENEBEAER

Property maintenance and
estate management

MERBENEVERE

Management of public finance

NHEMBER

Property maintenance and
estate management

MEREREWER

Estate management and
housing administration

EWMEREREETRE R
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Assistant Maintenance
Surveyor/Maintenance
Surveyor

BEEFREAEA,
EFRE R SRD

Maintenance Surveyor/
Senior Maintenance
Surveyor/Chief
Maintenance Surveyor

EFRBREA[,
=S HREFREREM,
BEFTRERSAD

Acting Assistant Director
of Housing

FEEEEHEER

Chief Assistant Secretary
(Special Duties)
LeEEMER (RIS

Acting Assistant Director
of Housing

FEEEEHEER

Assistant Director of Housing

FEEEZER

May 1974-May 1977

19745 &
1977 %5 A

June 1977-
October 1997

19776 A&E
1997 10 A

October 1997-
November 1998

1997 F 10 &
19984 11 H

November 1998-
May 1999

1998 F 11 A&
19994 5 H

May 1999-
February 2001

19995 A%
200142 A

February 2001-
April 2010
2000552 A ZE
201054 A



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREEBNEBEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Wong studied surveying and building technology at Hong Kong
Technical College from 1969 to 1972. He was elected Professional
Associate of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors in 1974 and a
Fellow in 1989. In 1974, he was also admitted Associate of the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators. He obtained his Master Degree of Business
Administration (with credit) from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1994.

Mr. Wong was a founder member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
in 1984 and was elected a Fellow in the same year. Since 1993, Mr. Wong
is a registered professional surveyor in building surveying division of Hong
Kong. He was presented “Distinguished Building Surveyor 1998” by the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and was elected President of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (2010-2011) in 2010. Since 2012, Mr. Wong is
a registered inspector under the Buildings Ordinance, Cap 123.

Mr. Wong is an educator. From 2010 to 2016, he was the Program
Director for the MSc program in Interdisciplinary Design and Management
in the Department of Real Estate and Construction of the University of
Hong Kong. He is currently an Adjunct Professor and teaches subjects
targeting in developing leaders for the industry and sharing his experiences
in managing construction, maintenance and conservation projects.

On community services, Mr. Wong was a member of the Construction
Industry Council from 2012 to 2014. He was also a director of the Hong
Kong Green Building Council from 2014 to 2020. He was appointed as
Chairman of the Hong Kong Green Building Council from 2016 to 2017. In
2020, he was admitted as a member of the Green Building Faculty by the
Hong Kong Green Building Council. From 2014 to 2017, Mr. Wong was
appointed as a member of the Inspectors Registration Committee Panel
and the Inspectors Registration Committee. He was appointed as a member
of the Antiquities Advisory Board from 2013 to 2018 and a member of the
Advisory Committee on Water Supplies from 2014 to 2020.

Mr. Wong was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Housing Society
in 2014. He was elected member of the Supervisory Board and Audit
Committee for 2015/2016. He is currently a member of the Supervisory
Board of the Hong Kong Housing Society (2022-2025) and member of the
Nominating Committee (2024-2025) giving advices to the management of
the Hong Kong Housing Society.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREEBNEBEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Upon invitation, Mr. Wong also serves as a member of the major
capital development advisory committee of the Hong Kong Society
for Rehabilitation from 2021 to 2023 and a member of the capital
development and facility management from 2023 to 2025.

Apart from community services, Mr. Wong also serves as an advisor to the
Global Leaders Corporation since September 2020.

Mr. Yu Cheeric, aged 49, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 6 March 2024. He obtained a bachelor of science in
business administration (accountancy) from the California State University
and completed the Wharton-Greentown Asset — Light-Program organised
by the University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Yu is a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a certified public accountant
of the State of Delaware.

Mr. Yu has over 26 years of experience in auditing, advisory business
services and finance management. Mr. Yu started his career as an
accountant in assurance and advisory business service with Ernst & Young,
thereafter, worked for various listed companies on the Stock Exchange,
including CLP Holdings Limited (stock code: 00002), Shimao Property
Holdings Limited (stock code: 00813) and Greentown Management
Holdings Limited (stock code: 09979). Mr. Yu is currently a financial
controller and company secretary of Wisdom Education International
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 06068) and a company secretary
of Raffles Interior Limited (stock code: 01376), both companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since February 2020, he has been
serving as an independent non-executive director of MBV International
Limited (stock code: 01957), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth, (former name: Fung Lan Sze, Lanzee), aged 59,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 6 March
2024. She obtained a bachelor in economic and social studies from The
University College of Wales in the United Kingdom in 1989. Ms. Fung
has more than 31 years of experience in the finance industry and is a
responsible officer of Type 4 and Type 9 regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREEBNEBEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

From June 1991 to June 1992, Ms. Fung worked at The Stock Exchange. as
a compliance assistant officer. From June 1992 to March 2001, she worked
in various securities houses in Hong Kong as a research or investment
analyst, including two years at OCBC Securities (Hong Kong) Limited
(currently known as OCBC Securities Brokerage (Hong Kong) Limited),
three years and eight months at Daiwa Institute of Research (H.K.) Limited,
a year at JS Cresvale International Limited (currently known as JS Cresvale
Securities International Limited), and over six months at SBI E2-Capital
Financial Services Limited (currently known as SBI China Capital Financial
Services Limited).

From April 2001 to February 2003, she worked at SBI China Provident
Capital Management Limited, an asset management firm, as a senior
analyst. From March 2003 to August 2007, she worked at Softbank China
Venture Investments Limited (lately known as SIIS Investment Management
Limited), a firm focusing on venture capital fund management, as vice
president.

Since October 2007, she has served as a responsible officer of asset
management firms, including over six years at SBI E2-Capital Asset
Management Limited (currently known as SBI China Capital Asset
Management Limited), six months at Simsen Asset Management (HK)
Limited (currently known as XinKong International Asset Management
Limited), over three years at China Goldjoy Asset Management Limited
(currently known as Atlantic Asset Management Limited), and nearly five
years at Ban Loong Asset Management Limited, where she also acted as
a director. Ms. Fung has been appointed as a director of China Yuanheng
Asset Management Limited since 12 September 2024. Her responsible
officer experience encompassed acting as an investment committee
member to supervise funds and discretionary accounts, providing
investment advice to its board of directors, and making decisions on
investment proposals.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREEBNEBEFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tang Kong Fuk, aged 59, joined the Group in December 2002 and
was an executive Director of the Company from July 2017 to April 2024.
Mr. Tang is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Tang
is primarily responsible for the maintenance management of the public
housing estates.

Mr. Tang has over 35 years of experience in the real estate and
maintenance management industries. Mr. Tang graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) with a higher certificate in building studies in November 1987.

Ms. Lau Wai Kay Vicky, aged 52, is the business development and
administration manager of the Group. Ms. Lau joined the Group in
October 2016 and is primarily responsible for business development
and administration matters of the Group. Ms. Lau has over 22 years of
experience in business development in various industries, including property
management industry and banking industry. Ms. Lau obtained a bachelor
of arts degree from University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada and a master
of business administration degree from University of Canberra, Australia in
November 1994 and December 2002, respectively.

Ms. Lo Mei Yee, aged 50, is the personnel and administration manager of
the Group. She joined the Group in July 2009 and is primarily responsible
for human resources and administration matters of the Group. Ms.
Lo has over 26 years of experience in handling human resources and
administrative matters. Ms. Lo obtained a bachelor of arts degree from The
University of Hong Kong and a master of science in management (human
resource management) from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
December 1997 and February 2004, respectively.

Mr. Yun Kwok King, aged 69, is the senior property manager of the
Group. He joined the Group in May 2007 and is primarily responsible for
supervision of property management of public estates managed by the
Group. Mr. Yun has over 47 years of experience in property management
industry and worked in the HA from February 1977 to June 2003 with last
position as assistant housing manager. Mr. Yun was elected as a corporate
member of the Chartered Institute of Housing in November 1997.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREEBNEBEFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Ms. Chan Kwai Chu, aged 61, is the senior property manager of the
Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group in October 2014 and is primarily
responsible for supervision of property management of public estates
managed by the Group. Ms. Chan has over 35 years of experience in the
property management industry. She worked in the HA from March 1989 to
January 2001 with her last position as housing officer. Ms. Chan obtained
a certificate in housing practice from the School of Professional and
Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong (HKU SPACE) in July
1997.

Mr. Yiu Ping Keung, aged 64, is the regional technical manager (Building
Works) of the Group. Mr. Yiu is a founding shareholder and one of
the controlling shareholders of the Company. He joined the Group in
December 2002 and is primarily responsible for supervision the technical
building works matters of public estates managed by the Group. Mr. Yiu
has over 44 years of experience in building works supervision. Mr. Yiu
obtained a diploma in civil engineering and a higher certificate in civil
engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Ms. Chan Nga Shuen, aged 36, is the registered safety officer of
the Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group in May 2010 and is primarily
responsible for safety management of the Group. Ms. Chan obtained a
bachelor of social sciences degree from Lingnan University, and obtained a
professional diploma in occupational safety and health from the School of
Continuing Education Hong Kong Baptist University in January 2012. Ms.
Chan became a registered safety officer of the Labour Department, Hong
Kong in December 2016.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Chi Yin is the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”). Ms. Wong holds a degree in Bachelor of Business
Administration (Honours) in Accountancy in City University of Hong Kong.
She is a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a
member of The Institute of Internal Auditors Hong Kong. She is also a
Chartered Tax Adviser (Non-practising) in Hong Kong, a Certified Internal
Auditor and a Certified ESG Planner. Ms. Wong has substantial experience
in accounting, corporate finance and company secretarial matters in
various companies listed on the Stock Exchange and currently is the
company secretary of Asia Allied Infrastructure, the parent company of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises that transparency and accountability are important
to the Company as a listed company. Since its Listing, the Company is
committed in establishing and maintaining good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Directors believe that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate culture
in return to the benefits of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board is
of the opinion that the Company has complied with all the code provisions
of the CG Code.

The Directors will continue reviewing the Company'’s corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to comply
with the increasingly tightened regulatory requirements from time to time,
and to meet the rising expectation on the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises:

Executive Directors

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick JP (Chairman)

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Chu Ming

Mr. Ng Fuk Wah

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny

Mr. Wong Bay

Mr. Yu Cheeric

Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

For all directors appointed during the reporting period, namely Ir Dr. Pang
Yat Bond, Derrick, Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry and
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant, all serving as executive Directors, along with
Mr. Yu Cheeric and Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth, both serving as independent
non-executive Directors, they have obtained the legal advice referred to
under Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 21 February 2024 and
confirmed they understood their legal obligations as directors of a listed
issuer under the GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRERRE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick is the chairman of the Board. According
to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive should be clearly established. Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick currently assumes the role of chairman of the Board while Mr. Pang
Yat Ting, Dominic assumes the role of chief executive officer. The Board
considers that this structure could enhance efficiency in formulation and
implementation of the Company’s strategies.

In compliance with rules 5.05(1), (2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed four independent non-executive Directors and
one of whom (Mr. Yu Cheeric) has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting and related financial expertise.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All the Directors should
make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. The Board has
full support from the executive Directors and the senior management of
the Company to discharge its responsibilities.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by any of the
executive Directors and the senior management. The Board also assumes
the responsibilities of maintaining high standard of corporate governance,
including, among others, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code. All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for efficient and effective delivery of
the Board functions. The Board has also delegated various responsibilities
to the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Further details are set out below in this annual report.

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the
independent non-executive Directors of his independence, and the
Company considered each of them to be independent in accordance with
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board Committees to oversee specific
aspects of the Group’s affairs and help it in the execution of its
responsibilities. Each of the Board Committees have specific written terms
of reference which clearly outline the committees’ authority and duties,
and require the Board Committees to report back on their decisions
or recommendations to the Board. All Board Committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, including access to
management or professional advice if considered necessary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
on 24 October 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and the code provision D.3.3 of the CG
Code. The Audit Committee consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yu Cheeric, Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny, Mr. Wong Bay
and Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth. Mr. Yu Cheeric has been appointed as the
chairman of the Audit Committee, and is the independent non-executive
Director with the appropriate professional qualifications.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the Group’s financial reporting process, to nominate and monitor
the Company’s external auditors, to oversee the independence and
qualifications of the external auditors, and to oversee the risk management
and internal control procedures of the Company.

The members of the Audit Committee should meet at least two times a
year. The Audit Committee has held meetings on 28 March 2024 and 16
August 2024 to review and approve the respective announcements and
reports of the financial results of the Group.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued) EREEE @)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this  RIREHR R B EAREERE B HIE - B
annual report, a meeting of the Audit Committee was held on 20 March ZE&@BE R 202543 A20 BT — X &% -
2025, during which the Audit Committee has, among other things, HIFEZZESD (Hh ) BEHAEEH
reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the RIHEHBNGAETBRE @ FEAEEF
reporting period, including the accounting policies and practices adopted A @K KB - U R AEBORRKE
by the Group, as well as the risk management and internal control systems 2 & A SRESIE K 4% - B Z B @&k E N IR
of the Group. The attendance records of the respective members of the & HfS tH /& €M CER 0T

Audit Committee to its meetings during the reporting period are set out

below:

Attendance/
number of
meeting held™
R
Name of member of the Audit Committee ERZEEREHSE gFEAHEO
Mr. Yu Cheeric® (Chairman) RBAOEEQ(EE) 11
Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert® EHiREE A 11
Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny RaELAE 2/2
Mr. Wong Bay =L 2/2
Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth®@ ISR L@ 11

Notes: Haz -

(1) Attendances of each of the Directors appointed or resigned during the reporting period (1) R EPEEZEREENZTEETHLERBR
were made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their respective D2REESEREHANRITHGRREME ©
tenures.

(2) With effect from 2 April 2024, Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert ceased to be a member, while  (2) H2024F4A28 8 ERBLEETHBAERE

Mr. Yu Cheeric and Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth were appointed as the Chairman and a BERE MRBNEERSHEELZ LD FIES
member of the Audit Committee, respectively. ERERZEGEFRKE -
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 24 October 2017 with written terms of
reference in compliance with rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules
and code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
consists of five members, including one executive Director and four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth, Ir Dr.
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny, Mr. Wong Bay and Mr. Yu
Cheeric. Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth has been appointed as the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy,
structure and package relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Company, and to ensure that none of the Directors determine their
own remuneration.

The attendance records of the respective members of the Remuneration
Committee to its meetings during reporting period is set out below.

Name of member of the Remuneration Committee

Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth® (Chairlady)
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick®

Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny®@ RICEFRED
Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert® HABEE®
Mr. Wong Bay EJ:I:?EE
Mr. Yu Cheeric? RENEE

(1) Attendances of each of the Directors appointed or resigned during the reporting period
were made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their respective
tenures.

) With effect from 2 April 2024, Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny ceased to be the chairman but
remains as a member, Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert ceased to be a member, while Ms. Fung
Nancy Ruth was appointed as the chairlady, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, and Mr. Yu
Cheeric were appointed as members of the Remuneration Committee, respectively.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) on 24 October 2017 with written terms of
reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee consists of five members, including one executive
Director and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Ir Dr.
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny, Mr. Wong Bay, Mr. Yu
Cheeric and Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth. Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick has been
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board annually, to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board, to
assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
appointments or re-appointments of Directors and to make succession
planning for the Directors.
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The attendance records of the respective members of the Nomination 1RZZEE€&RENKEHEHFEEHN
Committee to its meetings during the reporting period is set out below. FOEREAT ©

Attendance/
number of
meeting held®
HE BT
Name of member of the Nomination Committee REZZEEREH R SRREO
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick® (Chairman) BT IR (EE) 0/0
Mr. Wong Bay® =LA E® 11
Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny RidExHE 1”1
Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert® E?’j PR A 11
Mr. Yu Cheeric? RBAEED 0/0
Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth®@ ISR T @ 0/0

(1) Attendances of each of the Directors appointed or resigned during the reporting period
were made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their respective
tenures.

(2) With effect from 2 April 2024, Mr. Wong Bay ceased to be the chairman but remains as
a member, Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert ceased to be a member, while Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick was appointed as the chairman, Mr. Yu Cheeric and Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth were
appointed as members of the Nomination Committee, respectively.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship, the following
criteria should be considered by the Nomination Committee:

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

the candidate’s character and integrity;

the candidate’s qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity of the
Board;

for independent non-executive Directors, whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity;

the candidate’s willingness and ability to devote adequate time
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
Committee(s); and

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable may be adopted
and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee
from time to time for nomination of directors and succession
planning.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination Procedures

The Company has put in place the following director nomination
procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

(i)

(ii)

If the Board determines that an additional or replacement Director
is required, it will deploy multiple channels for identifying suitable
director candidates, including referral from Directors, shareholders,
management, advisors of the Company and external executive search
firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential candidates,
the relevant Nomination Committee will shortlist candidates for
consideration by the Nomination Committee/Board based on the
selection criteria and such other factors that it considers appropriate.
The Board has the final authority on determining suitable director
candidate for appointment.

Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

(i)

(ii)

Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for re-election,
the Board shall consider and, if consider appropriate, recommend
such retiring Director to stand for re-election at a general meeting. A
circular containing the requisite information on such retiring Director
will be sent to shareholders prior to a general meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Any shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate a person
to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting must lodge
with the Company Secretary within the lodgement period specified
in the relevant shareholder circular (a) a written nomination of the
candidate, (b) written confirmation from such nominated candidate
of his willingness to stand for election, and (c) biographical details
of such nominated candidate as required under the GEM Listing
Rules. Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”). The Company had also made specific enquiry to
each of the Directors and all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code regarding Directors’
securities transactions throughout the reporting period. The Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code by the Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

Pursuant to Rule 5.66 of the Model Code, the Directors have also requested
any employee of the Company or director or employee of subsidiary of the
Company who, because of his/her office or employment in the Company
or a subsidiary, is likely to possess inside information in relation to the
securities of the Company, not to deal in securities of the Company when
he/she would be prohibited from dealing by the Model Code as if he/she
were a Director.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a Board Diversity Policy from the Listing Date.
A summary of this Board Diversity Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Board Diversity Policy, and the progress
made towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

SUMMARY OF THE BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a diverse
Board to the quality of its performance. The Board Diversity Policy aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number
of measurable aspects including gender, age, ethnicity, knowledge and
length of services. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regards for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board currently
includes one female Director, thereby achieving gender diversity.

MEASURABLE OBJECTIVES

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of services. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. Details
of the gender composition of the staff numbers are set out on page 160
in the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT".
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IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING

The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, and monitored the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy annually.

The Nomination Committee of the Board has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group achieved
the Board Diversity Policy during the reporting period.

BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES

During the reporting period, five Board meetings were and one general
meeting was held. For the financial year commencing on 1 January 2024,
the Board scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in advance. The
attendance record of each Director at the Board meeting is set out in the
table below:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors BITES

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick® (Chairman) & — 1§+ T2 @ (£ /&)

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic? TREEEO(TTEBE)
(Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Ho Chu Ming AR S A&
Mr. Ng Fuk Wah RBESRE
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry® TRERESLE?
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant®® ENLE ViAol
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming® RIZEHLES
Mr. Tang Kong Fuk® BRI AL
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. Tam Mo Kit® BREAELTO

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES

Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny REELE
Mr. Wong Bay =R A

Mr. Yu Cheeric? REANEED
Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth® HE L@
Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert® EIRMESL A

HITRERE
REZAGRSALMARBRITEESH

MK YBFERESEREZTTLBRY
T

EZeRELEGERTEZTENESZ T
EBRAEREA ML - AR SAEEN R
EHECERESSKE ZITTEERAIRRL

EEEEE RRAERER

RIBEHR  ARARBERITAREES E%
—RIEERAE - A20244%1 A1 BREHAK
MREE EFSrEN8ERAT X
FREMR THTFTESRLI4RELE
Mo ZEFHEESSERNREHIIWT

Number of
attendance/
number of

Board meetings”
HER S
SRREO

Number of
attendance/
number of

general meeting"
29/ -V
Hﬁiﬁ(ﬁ 2O

Exg

11 5/5
11 4/5
11 5/5
11 5/5
11 5/5
11 5/5
0/0 11
0/0 11
0/0 11
11 5/5
11 5/5
11 5/5
11 5/5
0/0 11
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BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Attendances of each of the Directors appointed or resigned during the reporting period
were made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their respective
tenures.

2) With effect from 6 March 2024, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic, Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry and Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant were appointed as
executive Directors, and Mr. Yu Cheeric and Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth were appointed as
independent non-executive Directors.

3) With effect from 2 April 2024, Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming, Mr. Tang Kong Fuk, Ms. Tam
Mo Kit and Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert resigned as Directors.

(4) With effect from 31 December 2024, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant resigned as Director.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. The Board
held meetings from time to time whenever necessary. At least 14 days’
notice of regular Board meetings is given to all Directors and they can
include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think fit. The agenda
accompanying Board papers are sent to all the Directors at least 3 days
before the date of every Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for
the Directors to review the documents.

Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their
perusal and comments prior to confirmation of the minutes. The Board also
ensures that it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary information
in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed and they are also entitled
to have full access to Board papers and related materials so that they
are able to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
date of appointment subject to renewal and termination by either party
in accordance with the terms thereof and retirement and re-election
provisions in accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”).

The independent non-executive Directors should be appointed for a
specific term subject to re-election. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of one year/three years commencing from the date of appointment
subject to renewal and termination by either party in accordance with the
terms thereof and retirement and re-election provisions in the Articles.

With the various experience of both the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors, the Board considers that the
Directors have a balance of skills and experience for the business of the
Group.

Article 108 of the Articles provides that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships among members
of the Board and senior management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist the Directors’ continuous professional development, the Company
recommends the Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors also participate in
continuous professional development programmes such as external
seminars organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.
All the Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company Secretary is
responsible for maintaining and updating records for the Directors’ training
sessions. During the reporting period, the Directors have participated
continuous professional development by attending courses or reading
relevant materials on the topic related to corporate governance and
relevant update of the rules and regulations.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Directors aim to present a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's position and
prospects with timely publication of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the Board was not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibility of the external auditor is to form an independent opinion,
based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared by
the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of the Company.
The statements by external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, about their
reporting responsibility on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in the independent auditor’s report in this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance
and review of the Group’s internal control system to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control
system of the Group aims to facilitate effective and efficient operation
which in turn minimises the risks to which the Group is exposed. The
system can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
misstatement or losses.

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-
term development on the Group’s business. Management is responsible for
establishing, implementing, reviewing and evaluating a sound and effective
internal control system underpinning the risk management framework. All
employees of the Group are committed to implement the risk management
framework into the daily operation.

The Company has not established a standalone internal audit department,
however, the Group engages an external consulting firm annually as the
Group's internal control adviser. The Group has engaged Infinity Concept
Ripple Limited (the “Internal Control Adviser”) to conduct a review
on the internal control systems which included financial, operational,
compliance, procedural and risk management functions for the reporting
period. The Directors confirm that issues identified by the Internal Control
Adviser have been properly addressed and/or resolved and that the current
internal control and risk management mechanisms are adequate and
appropriate for the Group’s operations.

OBJECTIVES OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework
of the Group are to identify and manage the risk of the Group’s with the
acceptable safety levels and achieve the Group's strategic objectives. The
Group has adopted a three-line risk management approach to identify,
analysis, evaluation, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence,
department staff/frontline employees who must understand their roles and
responsibilities are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring
risks associated with transactions. The second line of defence is the
Group’s management that provides independent oversight of the risk
management activities of the first line of defence. It ensures that risks are
within the Group’s risk capacity and that the control of the first line of
defence is effective. As the final line of defence, the Audit Committee,
with the advices and opinions from the external professional party and the
internal control function was conducted on an annual basis to ensure that
the first and second lines of defence are performed effectively.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the external auditor generally depends on
the scope and volume of the external auditor’s work performed.

For the reporting period, the remuneration paid or payable to
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the Company, in respect
of their audit services for the Group was as follows:

PR % %8 5

Categories of Services

FaT IR

Audit services
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2024
2024 &
HK$'000

T

880

For the reporting period, PricewaterhouseCoopers did not provide any non-
audit services to the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Chi Yin has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the reporting period. The biographical details of Ms. Wong are
set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and rights,
separate resolutions can be proposed at shareholders’ meetings on
each substantial issue, including the election of individual directors, for
shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at
shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules and the poll voting results will be posted on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company’s website after the relevant shareholders’
meeting.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting are subject to the Articles (as amended from time to time),
and the applicable legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM Listing
Rules (as amended from time to time):

(a)

any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company (the "Eligible Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition;

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM must deposit
a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned to the head office and principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Units 1102-1103, 11th
Floor, Delta House, No. 3 On Yiu Street, Sha Tin, New Territories,
Hong Kong, or Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
of the Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for the attention of
the Board and/or the Company Secretary;

the Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned together with a deposit of a sum of money
reasonable sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by the shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered shareholders;
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

(Continued)

(d) the Requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the Requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an
EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the Articles to all the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if
the Requisition has been verified as not in order or the Shareholders
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company'’s expenses for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board
will not call for an EGM;

(e) if within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/
herself/themselves may do so, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of Cayman
Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles, shareholders who wish to move
a resolution may by means of Requisition convene an EGM following the
procedures set out above.

PROCEDURES FOR RAISING ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings, share
transfer, registration and payment of dividend to the Company’s Hong
Kong share registrar (details of which are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” of this annual report).

Should the shareholders have any enquiries and concerns, they may send
in written enquiries addressed to the head office and principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Units 1102-1103, 11th Floor,
Delta House, No. 3 On Yiu Street, Sha Tin, New Territories, Hong Kong by
post for the attention of the Board and/or the Company Secretary.

Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together with their

detailed contact information for the prompt response from the Company if
it deems appropriate.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a shareholders communication policy with the
objective of providing the shareholders of the Company with information
about the Company and enabling them to engage actively with the
Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include answering
guestions through the annual general meeting, the publication of annual
and interim reports, notices, announcements and circulars, the Company’s
website at www.modernliving.com.hk and meetings with investors and
shareholders. News update of the Group’s business development and
operation are also available on the Company’s website. The Board has
reviewed and is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness for the
reporting period of the Shareholders Communication Policy.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling shareholders of the Company has made an annual
declaration to the Company that for the reporting period, he/she/it and
his/her/its associates have complied with the terms of non-competition
undertakings (“Non-Competition Undertakings”) given in favour of
the Company which are contained in the Deed of Non-Competition
Undertaking. Details of the Non-Competition Undertakings are set out in
the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus. The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the status of compliance by each of the controlling shareholders with
the undertakings in the Non-Competition Undertakings and as far as the
independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no breach of
any of the undertakings in the Non-Competition Undertakings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the reporting period, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Company should have a dividend policy
and disclose such policy in its annual report. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”), the summary of which is set out
below:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

a.  the general financial condition of the Group;
b.  capital and debt level of the Group;

c.  future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development needs;

d.  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group's lenders;

e.  the general market conditions; and
f. any other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual
general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board. The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders
such interim and/or special dividends as it considers to be justified by
the profits of the Group.

The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the Shareholders’
interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable
Dividend Policy. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from
time to time and may exercise at its sole and absolute discretion to
update, amend and/or modify the policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the reporting
period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 38(a) to the consolidated
financial statements. The principal activity of the Group is the provision of
property management services with a primary focus on public housing in
Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the reporting period are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 64 of this annual report.

The Company does not declared a special dividend for the reporting period
(2023: Nil).

The directors have declared and paid the interim dividends of HK1.40 cents
per ordinary share, totalling HK$11.2 million during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$6.00 million).

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.40 cents
per ordinary share, totalling HK$11.20 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$5.00 million).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations totalling HK$60,000
(2023: HK$255,000).

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK FACILITIES

Particulars of bank facilities of the Group as at the balance sheet date are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Detailed business review is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. Future development of
the Company’s business is set out in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual
report.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPI”) WITH
THE STRATEGY OF THE GROUP

The key financial performance indicators of the Group for the reporting
period are set out below:

Strategy KPI
E

Maximise value for the shareholders
RRREIEZKERE

Improve the Group's liquidity
WEAEBNTRBES

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are important and
uses its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to mitigate the risks present in
the Group's operations and financial position as efficiently and effectively
as possible. Operational risks may arise when the Group has loss of (i) its
major customer; and (i) senior management employed by the Group which
may adversely affect the Group’s operations.

An analysis of the Group's financial risk management (including credit risk,
interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and liquidity risk) objectives and
policies are provided in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out on pages 167 to 168 of this annual report. The summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of
Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Directors confirm that since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this annual report, there has been no purchase, sale or redemption of
the Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
note 38(b) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Retained earnings of the Company may be available for distribution to
ordinary shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately
following the date on which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.
The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to the shareholders at 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$96.93 million.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating segment
is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS
Major Customer and Suppliers

The HA is the Group’s most important customer. For the reporting period,
the aggregate revenue attributable to the HA amounted to approximately
HK$375.45 million (2023: HK$334.24 million), representing approximately
99.03% (2023: 100%) of the total revenue. The Group’s two customers
accounted for 100% of the total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest suppliers (in
respect of cleaning materials and plastic bags) accounted for approximately
85.06% (2023: 96.82%) of the Group’s cleaning material costs. The
largest supplier accounted for approximately 38.96% (2023: 38.27%) of
the Group's cleaning material costs.
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder of the # Z2024F 12 A31BItFE  HESEE -
company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of 1% % & B B A s8R A &) Al B3R (3t 1
the issued shares of the Company) had any interest in any of these major EFE AR A AR A AS5% A E) B
customer or suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2024. ERZEFEREPHEEEREE E I -

Employees 3=

Employees are regarded as important and valuable assets of the Group. AEEEEEAEENEEELE - A W7 o
Details of remuneration are set out in the section headed “Management HIFFIBHNAFERE[EREER LT

Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. —ff o

DIRECTORS g

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Board's RAFEMEEAFEREAE  E524A
composition is as follows: U :

Executive Directors HITES

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick JP (Chairman) T—BETTIRMAFML (FE)
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic T—ELE

Mr. Ho Chu Ming R] AR 2 A4

Mr. Ng Fuk Wah RIBELE

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry REESL A

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant (resigned on 31 December 2024) NBLEEL A (R2024F 12 A31 HEFE)
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming (resigned on 2 April 2024) RIBEAE A (R2024 44 A2 B BIE)
Mr. Tang Kong Fuk (resigned on 2 April 2024) BB (7R 20244 A2 B BAE)
Non-executive Director FHMITES

Ms. Tam Mo Kit (resigned on 2 April 2024) BRI+ (R20244F4 F2 B BA(E)
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Ng Kee Fat Ronny RIELE

Mr. Wong Bay EhAE

Mr. Yu Cheeric REAKE

Ms. Fung Nancy Ruth RSB i 2+

Mr. Wong Siu Fai Albert (resigned on 2 April 2024) BB LA (R2024F 4 A2 HEFE)
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Pursuant to article 108 of the Article, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly Mr. Ng Fuk Wah, Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry and Mr. Wong Bay will
retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 20 May 2025 and are eligible and will offer
themselves for re-election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 14 to 23 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the date
of appointment and subject to renewal and termination by either party
in accordance with the terms thereof and retirement and re-election
provisions in accordance with the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of one year/three year
commencing from the date of appointment subject to renewal and
termination by either party in accordance with the terms thereof and
retirement and re-election provisions in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors regarding his independence in accordance with
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rule and there has been no circumstances
which would render them not to be independent as contemplated under
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company therefore considers each of the
independent non-executive Director to be independent.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, a permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of
the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the financial
year. The Company has purchased the Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance to provide protection against claims arising from the lawful
discharge of duties by the Directors.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group's retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange: (a) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests and short positions in which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein (the “Register”); or (c) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESERE

Long position in the shares

Name of
Directors

Capacity

BEEHAR g% EEME

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Interest in controlled Corporate interest

Dominic®? corporation
T—ERE? RIS NGIL $2
Mr. Ng Fuk Wah® Interest of spouse Corporate interest
RBEXLES fe B s NAER
Notes:
1. The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in the shares.
2. The Shares were beneficially owned by Chun Wo Overseas. Chun Wo Overseas is a

wholly-owned subsidiary of Asia Allied Infrastructure, which is held as to approximately
52.81% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, through his shareholding in GT Winners Limited
("GT Winners"”) and through such shareholding held by him in his own capacity. GT
Winners was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and 45% by Madam Li
Wai Hang, Christina. By virtue of the SFO, each of them was deemed to be interested in
the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the Company in which Chun Wo Overseas had
interest or was deemed to have interest.

3. The Shares were beneficially owned by R5A Group Limited, registered owner of
80,000,000 Shares of the Company, representing approximately 10.00% of the
Company'’s issued share capital. RSA Group Limited is owned as to 55.34% by Ms. Tam
Mo Kit, 16.40% by Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming, 14.07% by Mr. Ho Chu Ming, 12.91% by
Mr. Tang Kong Fuk and 1.28% by Mr. Ho Tik Wai. Therefore, Ms. Tam Mo Kit is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by R5A Group Limited for the purposes of the SFO.
As Mr. Ng Fuk Wah is the spouse of Ms. Tam Mo Kit, under the SFO, Mr. Ng Fuk Wah is
also deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by Ms. Tam Mo Kit.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as at
31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor chief executive of the
Company had or was deemed to have any other interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the Register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of
dealing by directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Nature of interest

RBRHHNFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of interest in the
shares® Company
EAR A B =
R&GEE O W B 2
519,649,500 (L) 64.95%
80,000,000 (L) 10.00%

sz -
1. FBILRRREATRBGHEE -

2. f’\ﬁﬂffiﬂ@ﬂ\ﬁ Tﬁﬁ BB INATINEE
ERN2ENBRAR ¥ EAEEBREFEDN
GT Winners Limited ( [GT Winners ) 8% 1) &35 18
HUABEAFSFENZERNIFREL5281% °
GT Winners B —BEX £ RZTERZ TS EHAB
45% R - MEBEFF RBER  HESZBHR
REBERMGINTEESERAEEEZZARD
AL @A AERARR D 2 M o

3. % % B 1) HR5A Group Limited B 25 # & ° R5A
Group Limited 4 75 A 7] 80,000,000 A& A% 17 #9 = ffit
BAAN EARBEEITRAA10.00%  R5A
Group Limited H BH 2 Z + - REBH LA - il
HAEE HEREERMAREESNER
55.34% ~ 16.40% * 14.07% * 12.91% 5 1.28%
iR - Bt BEBEBFRPEEKRD  ERRL
TR B R5A Group Limited 355 89 BT A B 15 /R
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FERRRA DR R EAEBE
B4 - EEER DR EEREN

BaE KR

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware of, as at 31 December 2024, the
following persons/entities other than a Director or the chief executive of
the Company had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the Register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO,
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued
voting shares of the Company:

FLEEFTA  N2024%12A831H LA FA
T/ ERE(ZEERADNAEZITHABRIN
KD REERO P EERBEESFMNBAE
1647 285 XV EBEE 2 ]2 3 BRI XA A1 A A 7]
WENERNAR  HBLBERBEESER
HEKPIE3B6IEETENECMAMNER
PAR  REERFEEEEAR R ARRE
BT B 1TRRAD 5% Sk IA ERERS ¢

RERBEBRNER

Approximate
percentage of

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

Number of interest in the
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest shares" Company
ERANCET £
BRR#EEB B EEME RHHB O NN B S
Chun Wo Overseas? Beneficial owner 519,649,500 (L) 64.95%
(=2 N EnEBA
Asia Allied Infrastructure? Interest in controlled corporation 519,649,500 (L) 64.95%
B E R Rt EEER
Corporate interest
NAER
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina® Interest in controlled corporation 519,649,500 (L) 64.95%
FEMLZLO Rt EEERS
Corporate interest
NAER
R5A Group Limited® Beneficial owner 80,000,000 (L) 10.00%

EmEAA
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Notes:

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares.

The Shares were beneficially owned by Chun Wo Overseas, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Asia Allied Infrastructure. By virtue of the SFO, Asia Allied Infrastructure was deemed to
be interested in all the Shares held by Chun Wo Overseas.

Asia Allied Infrastructure was owned as to 52.81% by GT Winners and GT Winners was
deemed to be interested in the shares and debentures of the Company that Asia Allied
Infrastructure was interested. GT Winners was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic and 45% by Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina. By virtue of the SFO, each of them
was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the Company in
which GT Winners had interest or was deemed to have interest.

R5A Group Limited is owned as to 55.34% by Ms. Tam Mo Kit, 16.40% by Mr. Sung
Alfred Lee Ming, 14.07% by Mr. Ho Chu Ming, 12.91% by Mr. Tang Kong Fuk and
1.28% by Mr. Ho Tik Wai.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31
December 2024, the Directors were not aware of any other persons who
had, or was deemed to have, interest or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company would fall to be required to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the Register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued
voting shares of the Company.

1. FBILURREEATRBGHOTHE -

2. ZEROBEMNBEEEZNEENBRRKNE
SNEmBER - BRIEEFRBAEED EBMNBE
BRALANME SN A 2 A B A HEas o

3. 25 M B A E 32 B GT Winners 5 52.81% f% ## -
i GT Winners 118 &R S M Bt & EZ AT A s
ZARARMREEEFPEEER T ELE
KZEBZ L& B %A GT Winners 45% A% # ©
BEELFRAEGL HESEHREREARGT
Winners FT#E B Sk R R A w2 AN AR & B
B%FRRARRAD 2 HES -

4. R5A Group Limited BB R R4+ - REAL A -
IR & - Bt A RAAR L £ D BIEA
55.34% ~ 16.40% ~ 14.07% ~ 12.91% & 1.28%
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B EXPFEEEIN  BEFEMAE 102024

F12A1H EEUTTAANBEETMEMAL
AR B B AD AR RE B (D o B SR 1E
HERBEFRBEGAIEXVHE2RID
BOBEXERAL A MBI ESAE
AR RIRIEEF R A EIEDI5E 336 15FT
GFEZCMOERSARE  SEESIHESR
BARBEEBITHFRIRERD 5% 3K A L
mI AL e

REREDRERART 2024FFHE

51



52

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 24 October 2017, a share option scheme was adopted by the
shareholders of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who would contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at its discretion, grant share options to any full-time employee and
any Director of the Company or its subsidiaries, including any executive,
non-executive or independent non-executive directors. The Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing the date
on the Listing Date.

The exercise price for shares under the Share Option Scheme may be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but in any event will
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the share on the date of grant. Any share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall end in any event not later than ten
years from the Commencement Date (as defined in the Share Option
Scheme). A nominal value of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of each
grant of share options.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options granted to each eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject
to the provisions of early termination thereof. Pursuant to Rule 23.03F of
the GEM Listing Rules, the vesting period for options shall not be less than
12 months.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 80,000,000 Shares, being 10%
of the shares in issue as at the Listing Date. No share option has been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled during the reporting period and is
outstanding as at the date of this report.

The number of share options available for grant under the scheme

mandate at the beginning and the end of the financial year is 48,000,000
and 48,000,000 respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company had a material interest subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

COMPETING INTEREST

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors were not aware of
any business or interest of the Directors, the controlling shareholders, and
their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflict of interest which any such person has or may have with the
Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Such related party
transactions do not fall under the definition of connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the reporting period, the Group has not entered into any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions that are not exempted
under the GEM Listing Rules. The Board confirms that the Company has
complied with the applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Group were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total issued shares as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire
and, being eligible, offered themselves for re-appointment as auditors of
the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for
their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group is committed to support environmental protection to ensure
business development and sustainability. The Group implement green
office practices to reduce the consumption of energy and natural resources.
These practices include the use of energy-saving lightings and recycled
paper, reduction in energy consumption by switching off idle lightings,
computers and electrical appliances and the use of environmentally friendly
products whenever possible.

The environmental, social and governance report for the reporting period is
set on pages 136 to 166 of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday, 20 May 2025, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 15 May 2025
to Tuesday, 20 May 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period
no transfer of the shares will be registered. Shareholders are reminded
to ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 14 May 2025.

In order to determine the entitlement of the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 27 May
2025 to Friday, 30 May 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period
no transfer of the shares will be registered. Shareholders are reminded
to ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 26 May 2025.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out on pages 24 to 42 of this annual report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
reporting period have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the reporting period comply with applicable financial
reporting standards, GEM Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosures have
been made.

On behalf of the Board

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M %% BLAT

o
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To the Shareholders of Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Modern Living Investments
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 64 to 135, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BN R &

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the occurrence and
completeness of employee benefits expenses.
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B ZBENR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BEETSEHE

Occurrence and completeness of employee benefits
expenses
EERAAINBERTEM

Refer to Note 5(b), Note 11 and Note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements.
FH2RRA IR ER W ESD) ~ KIFE11 RAIFE27 -

The Group operates in a labor-intensive industry and
manages over 1,600 employees. For the year ended 31
December 2024, HK$343.49 million of employee benefits
expenses, which consisted of basic salaries, staff benefits,
gratuities, pension cost, provision of annual leave and
long service payments, were incurred by the Group and
accounted for approximately 94.04% of the total costs
incurred for the year. Also, management judgements are
involved in estimating the provision of gratuities and long
service payments.

EEERSHTEINTELE  YEER1,600%ES -
BE2024F12A31ALFE - EEEELEERNA
32343,490,000 87T - BEEAHE - EERAM M-
BRARERA FREGBLERPAREE EFAELENE
FXANK994.04% © 51 - FHEME R REIRE S BE S R
IR E I -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMzEFNNEEBERENSE

Our audit procedures included testing the Group’s internal
controls over employee benefits expenses and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors. Specifically, we sample tested the effectiveness
of key management controls designed and implemented
over the process of maintenance of employee records and
the approval of monthly payroll calculation and settlement.

BB RIZEEIR EXEHESRIFAXNR
xS WRGEZEBLENETIENEE REMESFR
wEAZAKF - ST ERERRAMNES R - LA
2 BMARS#FEESHARRSEGRAIEHNE
NMEEMRTRERN I EEREH 2 AR -

We tested, on sample basis, the supporting evidence for the
occurrence of payroll expenses, including but not limited
to, inspecting payment records, reviewing employment
contracts and checking to attendance records of individual
employees. In assessing the completeness of employee
benefits expenses, we arranged face-to-face interviews with
selected employees and traced the employees’ identities and
salaries to their employment records; selected, on a sample
basis, the payroll settlement records and agreed the salary
payments to the employee benefits expenses recorded.
We also tested, on sample basis, the completeness of the
employee records used for the provision of gratuities and
long service payment calculation.
BMREEEEANHABETERINXHRE B85 E
TRABBRNRLE BHERSOREEGEED
HELHE NTREERMA N TEMLRE - RIARHE
HEFREEETEAXRLEPEEESHRFCEHER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

MREER

In view of the significance of employee benefits expenses to
the consolidated income statement and the management
judgement involved, significant auditor’s effort is involved
in verifying the occurrence and completeness of such
expenses. Therefore, we determined this area to be a key
audit matter.
ENEERMAXHEABRARNEEZEE MM RERE
EHE  BREFAMAXNHEERTEL S RASZEE
T FAilt HMEETZE B RAREFE-

FARETEE#)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMzEFNMEEERENSE

We assessed and challenged management’s assumptions
over the provision of gratuities and long service payments
by evaluating key parameters used, including but not
limited to, the employee turnover rate, discount rate and
salary growth rate, against the internal historical data
and external economic trends. Also, we reperformed the
calculation of the provision of gratuities and long service
payments. We also involved our valuation specialist to
evaluate the methodology of provision of gratuities and
long service payments and to review the reasonableness of
assumptions by making reference to available market data,
in order to assess the appropriateness of the methodology
adopted by management and the overall reasonableness of
the provision.

BB B YT L N BRI 2 BB RN RS BB E AT AT =
E2H(BRETRNESRBX MBEXRFLER
) UFEREAEEEUSEME A RARB &
WHREZ - B P EFFEA R RERERE S
B - MM EZRRMANEEIRTATREME K
HRB e E T A R2ZHMT 5 BIE AN EERE M
Rz R A BT ENE B -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that the
occurrence and completeness of the employee benefits
expenses were supportable based on available evidence.
ERPITHREF  BMNERESRIMAINEE R TE
HEASHBIB S -

HEREERAR AT 2024FEHRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BN R &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BN R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. \We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

RBEHRB RS
ENEME

Bt 5 R R K

BAWER  RUGAMBRIBBRES T
FEARUGFREBERMERNERERR
ABGEEERE THABRERMERNRK
BENRE - HMIER BT (ERER) &®E
BANER Rt 2 ABERIEEME
B o BPI A ERARENAREETAEMA
TAESAEEMEE- Aﬁﬁmmm$$
MRE - BTRERBRREBENERE
BERT - EX— Eéjiﬁaaa&¥1;¢¥%£ﬁ%%@é5§*
B o $HERMRAL A A R EREF Sk BB RR S E - IR
EERHEMEBNELLRAETELR
EHMBRRERBERBLEAVBEHRRME
BV ERTE - RIS B A 8RR PR T 4 AR 1E
EXe

ERBEEEETENETRANBES
PMERTEXRAE RETERRREE -
ZAFIIR -

o BRI ANEYd E B RRRF S ER AR T B BUAR
B BBRRFEERERRANER -
m?&%”%ﬁﬁf%ﬁ%fﬂﬂ@
ARERF R AEENERE - E
REMEREMER- EEE/\\EKE’FT BE
REBR g BEEER Fﬁﬁt
R BN AERES 2 £ - B REE
ﬁlﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁmékﬁkﬁkmﬂ
RERAE %ﬁl%&ﬁ HHEKX
5 BR PRt 70 L

o  THREEFTAMMAIES

BERRNABBRBLNETRER ﬁﬁm
WIEH BEHREAMIEHOHRIERE

RER -

HEREERAR AT 2024FEHRE

61



62

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BN R &

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BN R &

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ching, Yuen Pak.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

SmEWAR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HZE2024% 12 A31BIEEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FER
Revenue g 25 7 379,106 334,240
Other income H Al A 8 1,823 3,845
Other losses, net Hith B8 558 9 (531) (968)
Employee benefits expenses EERAFAX 11 (343,489) (301,075)
Cleaning material costs B RMELR AR 10 (2,452) (2,774)
Utilities expenses INZES 553 10 (1,110) (1,231)
Depreciation of plant and equipment BB KRS E 10 (604) (630)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERAREEENE 10 (881) (923)
Other operating expenses Hih e M 10 (16,716) (14,751)
Share of result of investments accounted DIERARE R EARD
for using the equity method KEEE 20 - (662)
Operatingproftt  _ _  #®a¥ 15,146 [ 15,071
Finance income B TN 5,205 5,038
Finance costs B 75 A A (100) (293)
Financeincome,net ~~ ~ HMB¥AE® B 5105 ... 4,745
Profit before income tax B ET 1S B AT 4 A 20,251 19,816
Income tax expense FrigHi X 14 (3,286) (2,042)
Profit for the year FRREFA 16,965 17,774
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) AR R EE (FRREW) 16 2.12 2.22
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEHERWER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HZE2024% 12 A31BILEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Profit for the year FREF 16,965 17,774
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hih2mE (H8), W :
Items that will not be reclassified to TeEN HEEmmEE
profit or loss
Remeasurement of employee benefits BN EEEEANES
obligations 27 (2,942) 111

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, F R B Bt 18 H fth 2

netoftax B s ey
Total comprehensive income for the year & A2 KA 5 14,023 17,885
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEERER

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
7R2024%12 A31 H

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHxT T T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment R R 5% 17 784 1,162
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 1,296 2,177
Investment in an insurance contract R—EREBENTRHIRE 19 2,664 2,600
Retention money receivables, deposits FEWREB & -« =e RHEAM
and other receivables JE U TE 21 3,209 2,837
N U ST I I S Rpe Ml 793 8,776
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables 2 5 e WGRIE 21 62,799 75,087
Contract assets BHEE 21 8,898 8,650
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B3/ » & & R HAb
FE W FRIE 21 6,342 5,502
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITER 22 39,519 39,550
Short term bank deposits FRHIRITHER 23 70,758 60,408
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFLFEY 23 23,840 11,556
et o e e e R N R e A A S 212156 200,753
Total assets HWEE 220,109 209,529
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to the owners ARABHEEAELER
of the Company
Share capital [N 24 8,000 8,000
Reserves % 24 145,999 148,176
Totalequity  ®#=e® 153999 156,176
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEAE 26 135 216
Lease liabilities HERRE 18 498 1,387
Other payables and accrued liabilities EfEARERETEE 25 699 =
1,332 1,603
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HmEEEREXR

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
7R2024%12 A31H

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET T

Current liabilities REEE

Trade payables B Z T IE 25 - 103

Other payables and accrued liabilities Hi BN RIEREFBE 25 62,354 50,571

Lease liabilities HEARE 18 889 885

Tax liabilities MIEAE 1,535 191
e 64,778 . 51,750
Totallabilities =~~~ =~~~ =~ =#&& = = .. 66,110 . =

Total equity and liabilities EERkBEAE 220,109 209,529

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 135 were approved
by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
-
Director

EF

FO4Z 135 B MRE M MKRE N 2025F
3A20ERESESHME  WYHUTESERAR

®E:

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

=—3
Chairman

i

HEREERER AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBSER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HZE2024% 12 A31BIEEE

Share Share  Contribution Retained
Capital premium reserves earnings
B RBEE TERE REEF
HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$f000
THx THET THT THT
(No(e 24) (No{e 24) (No;‘e 24)
(Hiit24) (Kizt24) (Hiix24)
Balanceat fJanuary 2023 R0BFIAIEMEH 8000 4776 2200 77245 150291
Profit for the year ER A - - - 17,774 17,774
Qther comprehensive income: Eth 2
Remeasurement of employee benefits B ERERNAR
obligations - - - 11 111
Totdl comprehensiveincome  FEMmEE U - - less 18
Transactions with owners in their SR NEAREANR S
capacity as owners:
Dividend paid: BERRE:
- 2022 final dividend — 2022 FRER S, = = = (6,000) (6,000)
- 2023 interim dividend — 2023 HEfR S - - - (6,000) (6,000)
Total transactions with owners in HEE NEREB AN
theircapacityasowners L - - - (12000 (12,000
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023 512 A31 B &tk 8,000 42,776 22,270 83,130 156,176
Balanceat 1 January 2024 R04F1A1BNER 8000 4776 22210 8130 156,176
Profit for the year R A - - - 16,965 16,965
Other comprehensive loss: HEth2EEE:
Remeasurement of employee benefits ENERERANER
obligations - - - (2,942) (2,942)
Tt comprehensive income  FEMmEE - - - - w3 140
Transactions with owners in their HEENEREEANR S :
Capacity as owners:
Dividend paid: BENRE
- 2023 final dividend — 2023 FERBWE - - - (5,000) (5,000)
- 2024 interim dividend — 2024 EHEHRE - - - (11,200) (11,200)
Total transactions with owners in BEEAEREEAN
theircepacityesowners L - S - (162000 (16,200
Balance at 31 December 2024 R2024E12 A31 ANES 8,000 42,776 22,270 80,953 153,999
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HZE2024% 12 A31BILEE

Cash flows from operating activities

REEEETHNREETRE

2024

HK$’000
FERT

2023
HK$'000
BT

Net cash generated from operations KEFEIR SR 29(a) 37,428 20,135
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENBEENEH (2,024) (1,434)
Net cash generated from operating activities & EEFEHEEEE 35,404 18,701
Cash flows from investing activities RERETHHRERE
Purchases of plant and equipment BEME L& (226) (298)
Interest received =S 5,205 3237
Capital injection to an investment accounted ¥ £¢ A A AR
for using the equity method B"EFE - (552)
(Increase)/decrease in short term bank deposits %8 #$R 1717 2% (38 hn), 35 4> (10,350) 1,722
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits B K FIRTFEZ R,
(3&0) 31 (4,950)
Acquisition of a subsidiary L i — I B B A &) 28 - 90
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFMARSTFHE (5,340) (751)
Cash flows from financing activities REMETBNEESRE
Interest paid EATAE - (175)
Dividend paid B E (16,200) (12,000)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERFTEFIA - 29,000
Repayment of bank borrowings and BERITERR
finance lease liabilities BEHEAE - (33,800)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRAS D (885) (911)
Interest element of lease payments MENRZH BB (100) (118)
Netcashusedinfinancingactivities = BAZBFAREF®E (17,185 (18,004
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReMIREEEY
cash equivalents i, G A) F58 12,879 (54)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof FHHRERELZEY
the year 11,556 11,387
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash ExgunHReREASE
and cash equivalents BYHNEE (595) 223
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear FRIEERIREZEEY 23 23,840 11,556
HEREERAERAR 2024FERE
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands and registered as an exempted company with limited liability
on 26 June 2017. The address of the Company’s registered office is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is
Units 1102-1103, 11th Floor, Delta House, No. 3 On Yiu Street, Sha
Tin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the controlling
shareholder of the Company changed to Chun Wo Overseas, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands which is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Asia Allied Infrastructure, a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda and listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00711) and in the opinion of
the directors, the ultimate holding company of the Company is GT
Winners Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are engaged in the provision of property
management services with a primary focus on public housing,
research and development in Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

The Company has listed its shares on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 10 November 2017 (the “Listing”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2 HmEEERESHHRE

POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation 2.1 RBEE

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except that investment
in an insurance contract which is stated at its cash surrender
value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Amend standards and interpretations adopted

by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards, amendments
and interpretations for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2024:

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HK Int 5
(Revised)

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Noncurrent (the “2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”)

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS
16, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Amend standards and interpretations adopted
by the Group (Continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact
on the Group's financial statements.

The adoption of the above amendments to existing standards
and interpretation does not have any impact to the results and
financial position of the Group.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

financial reporting standards

The Group has not applied the following amended standards
and interpretations, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends
to apply these amended standards and interpretations if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to
HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1

Lack of Exchangeability'

Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments?

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, Annual Improvements to HKFRS
HKFRS 9, HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume [I?
10 and HKAS 7

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:

Disclosures®

Amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation
HK Int 5 of Financial Statements — Classification
(Revised) by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause 3

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2 HmEEEREHBE 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 23 EEMEERERZER

financial reporting standards (Continued)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes
and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both
the primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to
HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of
HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are
made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings
per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18
on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRSs.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity
must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability and
must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares
consolidated financial statements available for public use which
comply with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the
Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply
HKFRS 19. Some of the Company'’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial

statements.

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Principle of consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control

ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to

conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Principle of consolidation (Continued)

(b)

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group's share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of equity-accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group. The carrying amount of
equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note 3.6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Principle of consolidation (Continued)

(c)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends received from
these investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

3.2 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors and certain senior management that make strategic
decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss within “other
losses, net”.

3.4 Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

34

3.5

Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate cost over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Tools and equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 3.5).

Gains or losses on disposal are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in profit or
loss within “other losses, net”.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets that
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.6 Impairment of investment accounted for using
the equity method

3.7

The Group determined at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment accounted for using
the equity method is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of investment accounted for using
the equity method and its carrying value and recognises the
amount in the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets

0}

(ii)

(iii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value and subsequently measurement at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)

The Group classifies all of its debt instruments to be
measured at amortised cost. Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. Note 4 details how the Group
determines whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk.

For retention money receivables, trade receivables
and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the assets.

Impairment on other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, short-term bank deposit and pledged
bank deposits are measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measure as lifetime
expected credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.1

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

Bank balances in client accounts

Certain bank accounts were opened and held in the name of
the entity within the Group on behalf of certain customers.
Such bank accounts are regarded as client accounts held on
behalf of third parties and are not recognised as assets and
associated liabilities in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12

3.13

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties
and employee termination payments. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time
is recognised as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the group exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the
Group, which does not have recent third party financing,
and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs; and
. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase
option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in the consolidated income statement. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.15 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where
the Group operates and generates taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or the
expected value, depending on which method provides a
better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise

those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

3.16 Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by the employees up to the end of the

reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave

are not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan, the Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme (MPF) in Hong Kong, the assets of which are
generally held in separate trustee administered funds.

A defined contribution retirement benefit plan is
a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Group has
no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets
to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement benefit plan are charged to profit or loss in
the period incurred.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to a termination when the Group has a
detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of
current employees without possibility of withdrawal.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based
on the number of employees expected to accept the
offer. Benefits falling due more than twelve months after
the balance sheet date are discounted to their present
value.

Bonus plan

Provisions for bonus plans are recognised when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16

3.17

3.18

Employee benefits (Continued)

(v) Long service payments and gratuities
See Note 27 for further information about the group’s
accounting for long service payments and gratuities.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the consolidated financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the entity’s shareholders
or directors, where appropriate.

Investment in an insurance contract

The Group acquired a management life insurance contract,
which includes both investment and insurance elements. The
investment in insurance contract is initially recognised at the
amount of the premium paid and subsequently carried at the
amount that could be realised under the insurance contract
(cash surrender value) at end of each reporting period, with
changes in value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

3 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury shares.

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

3.20 Interest income

3.21

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the group will comply with all attached
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 Financial Risk Factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. The Group does not use any financial derivatives
to hedge its financial risk exposures.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents,
short term bank deposits, pledged bank deposits,
trade receivables, contract assets, other receivables and
deposits, and retention money receivables. The carrying
amounts of these balances in the consolidated balance
sheet represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets.

Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group maintains a defined credit policy for its
customers and the credit terms given vary according
to the business activities. The financial strength of and
the length of business relationship with the customers,
on an individual basis, are considered in arriving at the
respective credit terms. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial Risk Factors (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Majority of the Group’s bank balances, short term bank
deposits and pledged bank deposits are placed in those
banks and financial institutions which are independently
rated with a high credit rating. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by these banks
and financial institutions as they have no default history
in the past.

The credit quality of the debtors is assessed based on
the financial position of the debtors as well as past
experience of the Group in dealing with respective
debtors. The Group's historical experience in collection of
deposits and receivables falls within recorded allowance,
if necessary, and the directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible receivable has been
made.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a high
concentration of credit risk as 100% (2023: 100%) of
the total trade receivables and contract assets were due
from the largest customer (2023: largest customer). The
largest customer is a statutory body which develops and
implements a public housing programme.

Management does not expect any losses to be incurred
from non-performance by these financial institutions and
counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial Risk Factors (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available, reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:

internal credit rating
external credit rating

actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
customers’ ability to meet its obligations

actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of customers

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of customers

significant changes in the expected performance
and behavior of customers, including changes in
the payment status of customers in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial Risk Factors (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Retention money receivables, trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for retention money
receivables, trade receivables and contract assets.
The Group measures the expected credit losses
on a combination of both individual and collective
basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual
basis

Receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on
collection of receivables are assessed individually
for provision for impairment of receivables. As at
31 December 2024, the balance of provision for
impairment of trade receivables in respect of these
individually assessed receivables was nil (2023: nil).

Expected credit losses are also estimated by
grouping the remaining receivables based on shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the
nature of the customer, its geographical location
and its ageing category, and applying the expected
credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying
amounts of the receivables.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial Risk Factors (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Retention money receivables, trade receivables
and contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual
basis (Continued)

The expected credit loss rates are determined based
on historical credit losses and are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. On that basis,
the provision for impairment of retention money
receivables, trade receivables and contract assets
from public estates are assessed to be immaterial as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
recognised in the consolidated income statement
within “reversal of the impairment loss on trade
receivables”. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same
line item in the consolidated income statement.

Other receivables and deposits
Other financial assets at amortised cost include
other receivables and deposits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial Risk Factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, management
considers other receivables and deposits as a
low risk of default and a strong capacity to meet
contractual cash flows as performing. The Group
has assessed that the expected credit losses for
these receivables and deposits are not material
under the 12 months expected losses method. No
loss allowance provision was recognised during the
year.

Interest rate risk

Other than pledged bank deposits and bank balances,
the Group has no other significant interest-bearing assets
and liabilities. The Group's pledged bank deposits and
bank balances earn interest at floating rates. The Group
does not enter into derivatives to address either cash flow
or fair value interest rate risks.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, if the interest
rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year would have been approximately HK$69,200 higher/
lower (2023: HK$57,800), respectively mainly as a result
of higher/lower net finance income on floating rate bank
deposits.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial Risk Factors (Continued)

(0

(d)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign
exchange risk arises when recognised assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency.

Most of the income and expenditures of the Group are
denominated in HK$. For the pledged bank deposits
denominated in United States dollar (“USD"”), and their
expression in HK$ on the consolidated balance sheet are
reasonably stable due to the HK$/USD Linked Exchange
Rate System.

The foreign exchange risk of the Group also arises
from short term bank deposits denominated in
Japanese Yen (“JPY"). As at 31 December 2024, if
JPY had strengthened/weakened by 5% with all other
variables held constant, the post-tax profit would have
been approximately HK$17,000 higher/lower (2023:
HK$61,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on revaluation of JPY denominated
short term bank deposits.

The Group has not implemented or entered into any
type of instruments or arrangements to hedge against
currency exchange fluctuations for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with
debt covenant, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from banks to meet their liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

4

BERRER®

BrismEbEEE2)

(o)

(d)

SNE BB
SMNERBRRERIANAD
FEIAKRESRESRHE
XEHMEBOER -
EHABERERED “é"%ﬁ"ﬁ
e B AN E ¥ ETHE
B A S1NEE LR

REBRHBH WA RZ
LA TR E » LAETT ([3E
ﬁl) FTEMNEEBRTT

FREGEEERBRNE
TE£§|J REERTE  hH
P T W 35 T Wy B B [ K
#lE o

A 5 B 7 1 FE LB TR 2R B
LLBE ([BE J)Eﬂﬁﬂ’]ﬁ
BRERITE 2 ° 12024 F 12
A318 - 1h BEAE 8
B5%  MAAEHMES
RETE E\Hﬁﬂméz/mﬂ
15 3% 0, 4> 49 17,000 7
7T (2023 4F : &40,/
61,0007T) " TEHRE
HA BB ENEHET
TERHINE S S TEATER -

REE2024%12A31H
ItFE AEBUYEZTHE
AT EAEAN T AL
L HE AT R B T O ) o

REBE SRR
AEENBRBEHESR
BAERBHRDESF K
KREBTEHRONER
NERERBRENR S
i B R 59 0 SR 1T A A R
BKF AR R R
EHORBESFEKR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial Risk Factors (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at
the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interests payments
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on
the current rates at the year-end date).

At 31 December 2024

Within

1 year/
repayable
on demand

158/
HK$'000
TET

720245128318

KRR EE#)
4.1 BH¥EREZE#)

d) RBESEMR(E)
TRBERBEEHES
#) B 5 B B R & B R AR
SEERAES HEBRE
MR AT - KPR E
MEBERANAREARS
m(BEERAHFNE (N
REECAERFERA B
BITAR) G EWFE

) e

Between
1 and
5 years

Over
5 years

1EE5F
HK$'000
T T

BiB5F
HK$'000
T

Total

At
HK$'000

TAETT

Other payables H fth fE A /I8 3,492 - - 3,492

Lease liabilities HERRE 941 506 - 1,447
4,433 506 - 4,939

At 31 December 2023 2023512 A831H

Trade payables B 5 B RIA 103 = = 103

Other payables H e ROAR 4,058 = = 4,058

Lease liabilities HERRE 984 1,447 = 2,431
5,145 1,447 = 6,592

KEFREERBR AR 2024 FEHE
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BEERER®

4.2 Capital Risk Management 42 EXEEER

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of shareholders’
equity and total debts. Total debt represents lease liabilities.
Capital is managed so as to maximise the return to shareholders
while maintaining a capital base to allow the Group to operate
effectively in the marketplace and sustain future development
of the business. The Group monitors capital on the basis of
net gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net cash divided by
total capital. Net cash is calculated as total debts less cash and
cash equivalents and short term bank deposits. Total capital is
calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet plus net debt.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:

AEBERBEANERERER
SEARERLENEND KM A
BRE RO HR NS MERRH
ARENZ  ARRBRENE
REBAFREEARKA o

RERFLHABRBEARE  AKH
HEFREXNTHRENRES
B RARREEES  BITMK
FHEEENRDET

AEENEARBERRERRER
MEBRE BEHAEREHEER
& - EAZEE AR R B R
AL FERERUEAKE
EAHEMS EAREE RFEE
TAREBER - ARBREF
BEARBRIREEER - ZHL X
BERERNENBETE - F
ReREBAERRERREF
EBYWAREHRTERGTE - &
RRBPRFEABEABRIITH
[HEa | IFERBFE -

MN2024% % 202312 A318H
BESELERNT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT AT

Total debts BB 29(b) 1,387 2,272

Less: Cash and cash equivalentsand  J& : R& KRB EEWAR

short term bank deposits RHIRTTER 23 (94,598) (71,964)
Net cash FRE (93,211) (69,692)
Total equity T o £ R 153,999 156,176
Total capital BRBE 60,788 86,484
Net gearing ratio FEEAMGBHEE N/ATREHR N/A 7~ A

R2024F 12 A318 » NEE %
IR I 293,211,000 7T
(20234 : 69,692,000/ 7T) °
W EZHFEERBLE -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group maintained a net cash
position of HK$93,211,000 (2023: HK$69,692,000), thus no
net gearing ratio is presented.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.3 Fair Value Estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost approximate their fair values
as at the reporting date since either the instrument are with
short maturities or the interest rate is close to the current
market rate.

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses as prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
requires the use of the lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables and contract assets. The loss allowances for
financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Management reassesses the provision at
each balance sheet date.

Estimated provision of long service payments
and gratuities

Management of the Group review the calculation on the long
service payments and gratuities based on the best estimation
of the probable future payments that have been earned by the
employees from their services to the Group at the end of each
reporting period. This involves key parameters used, including
but not limited to, the employee turnover rate, discount rate
and salary growth rate, against the internal historical data and
external economic trends. The payments due are dependent
on future events and recent payment experience may not be
indicative of future payments. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in future years.
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 oHER

The executive directors and certain senior management have been
identified as the chief operating decision-makers (“CODM") of the
Group who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The CODM assesses the performance based on a measure of profit
after income tax. The CODM considers all business is included in a
single operating segment.

Segment results, segment assets and segment
liabilities

The Group is engaged in the provision of property management
services in Hong Kong. Since the operation of provision of property
management services attributes to all of the Group’s revenue,
and a majority of results and assets during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, no business segment analysis is presented
accordingly.

Geographical information

The Group's revenue is derived from customers in Hong Kong. All
other assets of the Group were also located in Hong Kong as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. Accordingly, no analysis by geographical
segment is provided.

Information about major customer

Details of the customer individually representing 10% or more of the
Group's revenue are as follows:

HTEERETRRAEEECDHETE
RARENTRLERRE ([X2%E
BRERE]  ARBMAAKEN R
BEAFBERARDEER - 22
BRRECENZERSETLENH -
TELERREERGKABHEEN
MEFEFHRR ETBEERKRER
RAABEBHMAE —RKENED -

THERRE - P HEERTHERE

N

AEBMREREBIREMESEIRE
MR IREMEEERGSOESEEIA
SEEZE2024F KX 2023F12 A31H
IFFEENMARSARAIS D EE R
BE ARTEZINEBFDS I -

it EE R

AEBMNBEDEEERBNERE -
AEEMN20244F % 2023F 12 A31H
WFTA EMEE IR ES - Bt -
BB [R5 D 4T o

FEFEFEHR
ERI45 7 S B R 3% 10% S B 0% 5
HEMT

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$°000

Customer A EFEA

FHET THET

375,447 334,240

No other single customers contributed 10% or more to the Group’s
revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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REVENUE

Property management services income

YEEERBWA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

2024 2023
HK$'000

HKS$'000
T TAET

379,106 334,240

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of services in the ordinary course of the
Group's activities.

Revenue are recognised when or as the control of the services or
goods is transferred to the purchaser. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
services or goods may transfer over time or at a point in time.

When control of services or goods is transferred over time, the
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation is
measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligation.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer,
and it is presented separately. A contract asset becomes a receivable
when receipt of the consideration is conditional only on the passage
of time. Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the same
approach adopted for impairment assessment of financial assets
carried at amortised cost.

An entity is a principal if it controls the promised goods or service
before transferring it to the customer. An entity is an agent if its role
is to arrange for another entity to provide the goods or service. The
Group consider it is a principle in providing its services.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effect of a financing component if it
is significant.

Property management services income is recognised over time on a
systematic basis over the service period.

s 75 7 58
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8 OTHER INCOME 8 HfWA
2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT TAT

Consultancy Services Income from e B2 R ARBKRA

Urban Renewal Authority 1,442 -
Job Creation Scheme subsidies granted 7 & 45 3Il17 & BT A 75 B

from Civil Service Bureau of the EERRBEYMEEE QT

Government of the Hong Kong e ERATIRTHEIE

Special Administrative Region and Bz 5t E AL

the Hong Kong Association of
Property Management Companies

Limited 365 3,791
Sundry income FIERA 16 54
1,823 3,845
9 OTHER LOSSES, NET 9 HtEEFHE

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FTAET

Gain on investment in an insurance R—IEREE HHH

contract RE M 19 (64) (86)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net INEESHE,(Was) %48 595 (223)
Loss on acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —RME R M ER 28 - 1,277

531 968
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BEMEE S MAX
B F7 45 BE AT 2 F 7590 B BA OB B 1231

10 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Profit before income tax is stated after charging the following items:

10

1"

B :
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAT
Auditor’s remuneration =BT BN & 880 1,300
Depreciation of plant and equipment W REETE 17 604 630
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE 18 881 923
Employee benefits expenses RERAMXZ 11 343,489 301,075
Other expenses HiAx 19,398 17,456
365,252 321,384

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

Notes

ftiE

TE #HakHEMRE

Wages, salaries and other allowances

11 EER/ABBEX

2024

2023
HK$'000
TET

HK$°000
TR

(including directors’ emoluments) (BREEH2) 322,031 285,143
Pension costs — defined contribution RIKERAN — R TR

plan sTEl (@) 11,446 10,398
Written back of unutilised annual leave {5 FA 45 R &9 [@ 8 (214) (880)
Long service payments and gratuities KRB R#HE 27(c) 10,226 6,414

343,489 301,075

Notes: Wit
(a) Pensions — defined contribution plans (a) BRkE — REEFREE

The Group has established a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
scheme”) in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held in separate
trustee-administered funds. Both the Group and the employees are required to
contribute 5% of the employee’s relevant income up to a maximum of HK$1,500
per employee per month.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of the Group's contributions to
the aforementioned pension schemes was approximately HK$ 11,446,000 (2023:
HK$10,398,000). As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there is no unutilised
forfeited contribution which could be utilised to reduce future contributions of
the Group.

AEBNEBRILBHIMEDED B ([58
TmEatdl)) - wREeH B ZEETIIANBL
ERZBESHE ASEREEEHEAX
NETHSEESRIERMHR - AR
FRAEA 1,500 7T

MR2024F12 8318 REEH L RIK
& T BIE R FRARTELY B 11,446,000 5
7€ (20234 : 10,398,000 JT) ° X 2024
FN2023F12A318 - EKRSAER
AT AR D AN E 2 R IRGERK o

KEZREERERAR 2024FERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

== ==
11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (Continued) 11 BEERABAX #
Notes: (Continued) Ket - (&)
(b)  Five highest paid individuals (b) TEBEFHMAL
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five individuals whose emoluments HZE2024F12A31BIEFE - AKER
were the highest in the Group include 1 (2023: 2) directors, respectively, EEmFMALTHRE1HE (2023F : 28)
whose emoluments were reflected in the analysis presented in Note 12 to EF - HFMRMRGEE P EmKRMTE12
the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments paid to the remaining FT25IE DT o X4 FHERA LT HH M
individuals are as follows: U

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fax FHTT
Basic salaries and allowances BEARE & RIERL 3,129 2,292
Discretionary bonuses IBTEAT 108 54
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plan  {& = [f1 57 5 i 5k a1 8 A9 £ 50 72 54
3,309 2,400

The emoluments fell within the following bands: FENN T AT & E -

Number of individuals

A
2024
Emolument bands FEEE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 %% 1,000,000 7T 4 3
No incentive payment for joining the Group or compensation for loss of office HZE2024F12A31ALFE  HECH
was paid or payable to any for the five highest paid individuals during the year o FE A5 A 1] 1 48 B o o B A A A5 SR BAE
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same). ARG B e B X R BBk 7 1 (2023 4F

R e
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12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

12

(DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

(CAP.622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE

OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

BE204F12A31ALFES
BEEFMEINOT -

Employer's
contribution to
Basic a retirement
salariesand  Discretionary benefit
allowances bonuses scheme
Exm
EXES RIER
e &R MisTA RS @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET THET TR
For the year ended HZ2024512831R
31 December 2024 LLEE
Executive directors HITES
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick' Z—H - 108 - 4 12
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic' 2l - 108 - 4 112
Xu Jianhua, Jerry’ frE - 108 - 4 12
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant? PNED - 108 - 4 12
Ng Fuk Wah RiEBE - 972 - 12 984
Ho Chu Ming e - 653 - 3 656
Sung Alfred Lee Ming? RIZHE3 156 - - - 156
Tang Kong Fuk? BrE: - 769 10 18 797
Non-executive director FHTES
Tam Mo Kit* ERg 34 - - - 34
Independent non-executive BIYFHTEE
directors
Ng Kee Fat Ronny Rig& 132 - - - 132
Wong Siu Fai Albert? EippE® 34 - - - 34
Wong Bay =g 132 - - - 132
Yu Cheerict KBNS 108 - - - 108
Fung Nancy Ruthe e 108 - - - 108
704 2,826 10 49 3,589
g appointed as executive director on 6 March 2024 g R2024F3 A6 BAEZEAWITES
2 appointed as executive director on 6 March 2024 and resigned on 2 MN2024F3 A6 BEEERNTE
31 December 2024 ERR2024412 A31 BEHT
3 resigned as executive director on 2 April 2024 2 N2024F4 A2 BB ERITES
g resigned as non-executive director on 2 April 2024 g N2024F 4 B2 BEHEHFMITES
5 resigned as independent non-executive director on 2 April 2024 2 §§J24$4 A2 BEEBLIERNTT
6 appointed as independent non-executive director on 6 March 2024 g MR2024F3 A6 B EZTEAB LI
WITES

HEEEERARRNT 2024 FEHRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 122 EEG/IRER (BB

(DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. GZZG) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out below:

BlE622E(E B QT
5l 25 383 1k 2 & B 3£ B
622GE( AR (HEEEA
=& RO REWHEE)
(&)

1|
%P&ﬁi#

() E=M=E )

HZE2023F12831BIEFES
SEMFH MO ¢

Employer's
contribution to
Basic a retirement
salariesand ~ Discretionary benefit
Fees allowances bonuses scheme
Exm
HXEHS RIREF
we K2R ML AR et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL THL THT
For the year ended BZ2023%12A8318
31 December 2023 LFE
Executive directors HITES
Ng Fuk Wah RiEE - 819 = 18 837
Ho Chu Ming A - 652 10 18 680
Sung Alfred Lee Ming' REBR' 612 - 10 2 624
Tang Kong Fuk’ BT - 763 10 18 791
Non-executive director FHTES
Tam Mo Kit? ERR 336 = = = 336
Independent non-executive B FHTEE
directors
Ng Kee Fat Ronny RiDE 132 - - - 132
Wong Siu Fai Albert? e 132 - - - 132
Wong Bay Al 132 - - - 132
1,344 2,234 30 56 3,664
L resigned as executive director on 2 April 2024 = R2024F4 A2 BEEITES
2 resigned as non-executive director on 2 April 2024 3 R2024F4 A2 BBIIERITES
3 resigned as independent non-executive director on 2 April 2024 3. §§J24$4 A2 BB EB L IEHTT
Notes: HaE -
(i) No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year (i) MESEEREXIREREEHZ

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP GZZG) (Continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to the directors of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 by a
defined contribution plan operated by the Group in respect
of their services as directors of the Company. Save for the
retirement benefits paid to certain directors in respect of their
other services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Group disclosed in (a) above, no other retirement
benefits were paid to the directors in respect of their other
services of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: same).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
same).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
pay any consideration to any third parties for making available
the services of themselves as directors of the Group (2023:
same).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there are no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of the
directors, bodies corporate controlled by and controlled entities
with such directors (2023: Nil).

12 EERTA

RER (F;
BlE622E(ERB LR
BlYE383 1 REBE
622G E( AR (HEE
=& RED)REHR
(%)

it =3 2l it
8 3% B

A
%)

S

(b) EZRAER

HZE=2024F12A31HLEEFE -
MERANQAREEETAQRE
ERENREMBBALEEEE
B 5L E B ERET Bl M 1% X AR AR
BAl B EX (@R ERE TE
ERENEHEEEAEEEHHN
b AR 75 0 1A) L S A Y SR AR AR F
4N AE B 2024512 A318 IE
FE BERESRAAEEREMH
B9 5L i AR 75 i 1) L S A B A R AR
&) (20234 : 48[) °

() ES=ERERN

HE20245 12 A31BIEFE -
1 4 2 =5 B U EN B U BT ) B
BB (20234 - 48[A)

(d REEEERBEAE=F
RHEAE

HE2024F12831BILEE
AEBITERERE=ZFRAE
ERHEERESmMEE S EM
KB (20234 : HRA) -

(e) BEAMUES EE=NS
ZERBEERAZS
MEM BEERKEMR
ZNER

HE2024F12A31BILEE
NEBHMBEAESE BETFHN
FEREEREEAZEAME]
YEMER - BUBREEMR
S HE(20234F - &) -

e

e
0

X >
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12 EER/AIEER (FEBE
(DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION BlEE622EKE B A T &
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ) £ 383 1R R BB EHIZE

ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND COMPANIES 622GE( AR (HEEEA
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT =& RA)RENKEE)
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (%)

(CAP GZZG) (Continued)

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

f) ESRXF RHAEHN

arrangements or contracts

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, executive Director of the Company
has beneficial interest in the Company by virtue of his direct
interest in the ultimate holding company of the Company,
GT Winners Limited. Mr. Ho Chu Ming, executive Director of
the Company, and Ms. Tam Mo Kit, the spouse of Mr. Ng
Fuk Wah, another executive Director of the Company, have
beneficial interests in the Company by virtue of their direct
interests in R5A Group Limited, a substantial shareholder
company of the Company.

Apart from the aforesaid directors’ interests and save for the
balances and transactions disclosed elsewhere in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group'’s business to which the Group was a party and in which
a director of the Company has a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

13 FINANCE INCOME, NET

OEWN £

KRB ITESE —ELESE
BERARDRREERARGT
Winners Limited 8 B £ # 25 i 7
AAGEEEREZ - ARAH
TEEMFERLERARRS—
BT ESRBELENIRGBE
REZTBRESENARBEE
% 5 A ] R5A Group Limited &
BEAMESER AR AL -

B P EERE S IA RS MER
KFEMIT DT ENGESR K
RN RRBEEREZ2024
F12A31BIEFE RS HRE A
ARERERREET LN E
AEEBXEBHNEMEARS %
EREHTEEZEIEEBRETEKX
25 (20234 « )

3 MBWAFE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET

Bank interestincome  ®oMEKA 5205 5,038
Interests on borrowings (EEClRS) - (175)
Interests on lease liabilities HEBENE 18 (100) (118)
T R s T MU v B IO ey e g e (100) e ns (293).

5,105 4,745

110 Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits for the year (2023: 16.5%, except for
the first HK$2,000,000 of a qualified entity’s assessable profit which
is calculated at 8.25%, in accordance with the two-tiered tax rate
regime).

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated
income statement represents:

Hong Kong profits tax: BERBFEH

14 FRIEHAX

EBMNEHEERF ARG ERMN
i A 3% 16.5% K & 5T & (2023 F -
16.5% ' EREFSHMAH & &
B BB H) B 2,000,000 78 JT A FE R B
F3%8.25% M Fi K5t &) o

RERB AR P HIBR BB IS :

2024 2023
HK$'000

THETT

HK$'000
FER

Current income tax BNERFT1S AL 2,992 2,156
Under/(over) provision in prior year BEFEERETR

(FBFEEME) 375 (51)

3,367 2,105

Deferred income tax RIEFTIS TR 26 (81) (63)

3,286 2,042

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong
Kong as follows:

755 B BR B 15 750 A1 5 A B A5 18 B {5 AR
BEAREMEENERSBENZEN
™

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FHIT

Profit before income tax B BT 1S B A 4 A 20,251 19,816
Calculated at applicable tax rate RERNHEFE 3,341 3,425
Income not subject to taxation EHERTUA (927) (1,548)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes =~ ] 174 59 5% 497 216
Under/(over) provision in prior year BEFEBEBENL (BERE) 375 (51)
3,286 2,042

The Group is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model rules.
The Jurisdiction in Hong Kong will come into effect from 1 January
2025. Since the Pillar Two legislation was not effective at the
reporting date, the Group has no related current tax exposure.

NEEEAKESERERBEGEMN
M RANEAR - BB REAERES
R2025FE1 A1 RBER - AR
ZHRHIRRE BB M ARER RNEE
I EBRAH AR SRR D -

KEZREERERAR 2024FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

15 DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend of HK1.4 cents
(2023: HKO.75 cent) per ordinary share
(Note a)

Proposed final dividend of HK1.4 cents sy
(2023: HK0.625 cent) 1.4 7401 (2023 4 -
per ordinary share (Note b) 0.62571L) (HfaEb)

ERBGEERABE

15 B2

2024 2023
HK$'000

TR

HK$°000
FERT

SR E BT R E 1.4 54
(20234 : 0.75381L) (HtsFa)

11,200 6,000

11,200 5,000

Notes:

(@) An interim dividend in respect of the six months ended 30 June 2024 of HK1.4
cents per ordinary share (2023: HK0.75 cent) was paid in cash on 30 September
2024 to shareholders whose names appeared on the Register of Members of the
Company on 10 September 2024.

(b) A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK1.4 cents per
ordinary share, totaling approximately HK$11,200,000 has been recommended
by the Board for approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The proposed final dividend has not been dealt with as dividend
payable as at 31 December 2024.

The final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 of HK0.625 cents per
ordinary share, totaling approximately HK$5,000,000 was accounted for as an
appropriation of retained earnings in the year ended 31 December 2024.

16 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profits
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the respective
years.

The basic and diluted earnings per share are the same as there was
no potential dilutive shares.

(a) B Z=2024%6 A308 L N1EA 2 & HIAL
BEEREABR1.450 (20234F : 0.757%8
i) B 20249 A30 H AR IR TR
20249 A 10 BB AR A IR R & it 2 ik
%o

b) EFSERARRIZEEREAFAS
FEREMERET2024F12A31B 1LE
EARBARKREFRLBARTABI - &1L
11,200,000 7T * ## R K 23 A% 8 3 4 7
202412 31 B ZRB Y BREMRRE -

HZE2023F12A31BILEEEREREE
% 3B A% 0.625 (Ll - & £ 495,000,000 7
THIEEE2024F12A3NMBILEEE 2
REBRBFDIK

16 SRER

SREARBAEEFNAL TR
BN R DA S BT B R 0
FHBGHE -

BRI EEEEEIRD  HERERN
KNEERNER -

2024 2023

ARAHEA ARERH (TETT)

Profits attributable to owners of

the Company (HK$'000) 16,965 17,774
Weighted average number of ordinary EEBITERRINE TS

shares in issue 800,000,000 800,000,000
Earnings per share (HK cents) ST GBI 2.12 2.22
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

17 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17 BMERRE

Tools and Furniture Motor Office
equipment  and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
HRR
IAREE EE#E AE NS @t

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

i3 THL THL T THL FHL
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1818
Cost XA 3,085 164 1,926 849 6,024
Accumulated depreciation 2EME (2,090) (157) (1,544) (739) (4,530)
Net book value EEFE 995 7 382 110 1,494
Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z2023F12A31H

LEE
Opening net book value FOREFE 995 7 382 110 1,494
Additions RE 275 - - 23 298
Depreciation charge TERY 10 (456) 3) (129) 42) (630)
Closing net book value FREEFE 814 4 253 91 1,162
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A318 R
1 January 2024 2024F1R81A
Cost KA 3,360 164 1,926 872 6,322
Accumulated depreciation ZEtiE (2,546) (160) (1,673) (781) (5.160)
Net book value EEFE 814 4 253 91 1,162
Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z 20245128 31H
LEE
Opening net book value FNREFE 814 4 253 91 1,162
Additions RE 208 - - 18 226
Depreciation charge FERZ 10 (428) @) (129) (44) (604)
Closing net book value FREEFE 594 1 124 65 784
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A318
Cost XA 3,568 164 1,926 890 6,548
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (2,974) (163) (1,802) (825) (5,764)
Net book value FEFE 594 1 124 65 784
HEEEERARRNT 2024 FEHRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

18 LEASES

(a)

(b)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet

The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts
relating to leases:

18 HE

(a)

REEEERBERTER
M &5
HEEERBERBIRIATEEE
ERNEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Property ES 514 857
Equipment B 782 1,320
1,296 2,177

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current & 889 885
Non-current IERE 498 1,387
1,387 2,272

There are no additions to the right-of-use assets during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$1,028,000).

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following
amounts relating to leases:

(b)

HE2024F12831BILEEW
EANBEMFREEE (20234 :
1,028,000 7T) ©

REEBARTEINE
H
REWARBTRATEAERH
G -

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$°000
FERT TAET

Depreciation of right-of-use FEREEERE
assets

Property JES (343) (345)
Equipment B (538) (578)
(881) (923)

Interest expense (included F B G AMBEA)
in finance cost) 13 (100) (118)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was approximately
HK$985,000 (2023: HK$1,029,000).

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

18 LEASES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various offices and equipment. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 5 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

19 INVESTMENT IN AN INSURANCE CONTRACT

18 & (#)

(0 *EENHEEFBIRAEA
AR X

AEBEBEETHIEMRE -
HEARBTERIESFHNETE
A

ME R TIAE R 1 78 M E - I
BE TR G R GRE - R
ABANHEEETOERESR
S - FE 15 T AN E e A R
& - HEBETSARETER -

19 R—EREBEAPHNRE

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T THT

As at 1 January Rn1A1H 2,600 2,514
Gains on investment in an insurance A —IE{REB A LIFH

contract LB WS 64 86

As at 31 December ®12 A31H 2,664 2,600

Investment in an insurance contract represents a management life
insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”). The Group is the beneficiary
of the Insurance Policy. The Insurance Policy was pledged to a bank
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group as set out in
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. Changes in value
of the investment in an insurance contract are recorded in “other
losses, net” in the consolidated income statement.

R—ERBANTHREEEEES
2RE(RE]) AEERRENT
A REEEMT —RARITARE
EMBWMEMAINMERNEERERD
ETRITRERHEER - N —BRR
BHTHREBEED T AZARA
RPWTHMERFE] -

KEZREERERAR 2024FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

20 INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20
EQUITY METHOD

RARSEEARNRKRE

Place of Equity interest
incorporation and  Principal attributable Nature of the = Measurement
type of legal entity activities to the Group relationship method Carrying amount
1R AR L 3t B
REEERERE FEEH FEEEERE BEME AERAE HREE
2023 2023
HK$'000
AT
Modern Proptech Hong Kong, limited  Research and - Joint venture Equity method -
Limited liability company development
BE BRAR W RELR ERE
Note: Ktz -
(i) In October 2023, the Group acquired remaining 30% equity interest of Modern (i) R2023F 108 AEBERBAEBEA A

Proptech Limited, a former joint venture of the Group. Upon the completion of
the acquisition, the Group held the entire equity interest of Modern Proptech
Limited. Details are shown in Note 28.

Movements of investments accounted for using the equity method
are as follows:

‘& 1 % Modern Proptech Limited # T 30%
&4 o RTER U E 1% - AN @A Modern
Proptech Limited ) 2 B AR 4 © 5% 15 &k 7 B
28

RAESEARORERDIT -

2023

HK$'000

FTAT

At 1 January W1HA18 110
Additions R 552
Share of losses DL EE (662)
At 31 December M®12HA31H =

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

21 RECEIVABLES, CONTRACT ASSETS,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

21 BB -EHNEE - -#&
NRERES

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Trade receivables B 5 WG IE 62,799 75,087
Less: Provision of impairment OB - =
62,799 75,087
Contract assets (Note i) BREE KEF) 8,898 8,650
Total receivables and contract assets JEUWGRIBE M & X B EMRRE 71,697 83,737
Retention money receivables (Note i) FEWARE & (Kt atii) 1,654 2,023
Rental deposit Heke 119 119
Utilities deposits RAEEZS 171 206
Prepaid insurance TET R BR 2,436 2,608
Prepayment TEfTRIE 835 55
Other receivables H {th fE 3k IB 4,336 3,328
Total prepayments, deposits and other TERTFRIB ~ e Kk H M W GRIE
_receivables o 9551 8,339
tess:Non-current R:¥A® (3209 (837
Current Vi) 6,342 5,502
Notes: Hat -

0]

(ii)

Contract assets include receivables for project management fees for work
performed but yet to be billed; and the project management fee to be billed
for completed project management services of maintenance work. Billings to
customers will normally be issued when the contractors for the maintenance work
submit their final billings. These balances are reviewed regularly by management.
No allowance for impairment of contract assets is considered necessary by the
directors with reference to the historical experience in collection of these balances
once billed and the financial capability of the customer.

In accordance with the service contracts with the customer and the common
practice in the industry, the customer withholds a portion of the payments in
relation to the project management services for maintenance works rendered by
the Group as retention money. The retention money normally represents 5% of the
service income of the project management services for maintenance works and is
accumulated until the sum retained reaches the limit stated in the service contracts.
The retention money will be released to the Group according to the terms
and conditions of the service contracts. The balances are regularly reviewed by
management with reference to the historical default rates or forfeiture rate. There
is no history of forfeiture and default of these balances during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. The carrying amounts of retention money receivables
approximate their fair values as the impact of discounting is not significant.

(i)

ANAERRBMCETERAENTEN
HAERENRETIR KRB TR RE
ITRABEERBEHENRBEEER -
RE-RENFEETIROEARHRIEL K
REBERREZPE - ERETHENZ
SER - BERL2ERMZEEREER
MBEERREPHMBENRABRER
HENBEEFLRERS -

RIBEEZEFIT MRS EHREREH -
BERASERENREIRBATER
BRE—BAONRIERRER - RBELA
BEHAREIREEEERSEORE KA
W5% WRABERBSHEEIRBS
HWFETREALL - RE S BIRRBE LK
BRRGHBRTAER - EEELEHR
AR R RSN ERTEHRENES - REE
2024F %2023 12 AN BILFEZSHE
R AR UL R HE R AR 8 o FEUUREE € W0 BR
HEREQATERE  DHRTENTE
YREK -

KEZREERERAR 2024FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

21 RECEIVABLES, CONTRACT ASSETS, 21 B FE -SHNEE &

118

PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying amount of each class of receivables and deposits mentioned
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

The trade receivables are generally on credit terms ranging from 30
to 60 days.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

NRERRE ®)

RBEEEHAZNEAEERRS L
A EE R YRR RIR S W EREE °
AR B B A MR R IERTER

BHRUKENEER RN FI0E
60K °

UTRREHRESREFRRER
BHIZ27MERER DT

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Contractassets(Note))  &®&EME) 8898 8,650
Trade receivables: E 5 WA
Up to 30 days =% 30K 33,364 33,089
31 to 60 days 31 £60K 19,165 36,162
61 to 90 days 61 £ 90K 10,270 5,836
e 62,799 75,087
71,697 83,737
Less: Provision of impairment OB ER S - =
71,697 83,737

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for trade receivables and contract assets. See Note 5 for more details.

The carrying amounts of retention money receivables, trade
receivables, contract assets and other receivables and deposits
approximate their fair values. Retention money receivables, trade
receivables, contract assets and other receivables and deposits are
mainly denominated in HK$.

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

AEBREAEEM B RS EREIHR
MBI A ERRERERE &
ARE S BRFBARBNEERERE
HMERERREE EHEZFIE &
SRS o

EBRRES BEZEWFKE GHE
E N EL At B WK R e 35 & RO BR T (B 2
HEHAFERE BURRES BHE
WHIR - BRNEERE M EKRFIAR
BREXTENETTEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

21

22

23

RECEIVABLES, CONTRACT ASSETS,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (continued)

No provision for impairment of trade receivables for the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Classification as trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to certain
banks to secure performance bonds as set out in Note 30 and the
banking facilities granted to the Group as set out in Note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s pledged bank
deposits are denominated in USD (2023: USD) and earn interest at a
rate of 3.75% per annum as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 4.82%)
per annum.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
SHORT TERM BANK DEPOSITS

21

22

23

ERFE SHNEE T
NRERRE ®)

HZE20244 K2023FE 12 A31 B ILE
£ BB SRR E R o

PTHEREZRRFER

BHRUABERERATEBKBIEDT
ERHREEREFPNKE - NE S
R At RN RIRTEEAE — F 3 AR (B
EXBLIRKLLBHD  UBEER
) E - RO ERRBEE BRI
2INRIFERBEE °

B 5 M E AW IR F iR R FERE
R BRI R ERF ORI EHK A
BRI E BT E

EEARITER

EEARITERIEEF FE FTRITU
BERAMBHRERMEI0MEBHRE
ERMESTTEAEEERHIEIT
BEREERNTR AEEHEIR
FERITIFE RIAEZ LA E (20234 : 3
JT) B 2024512 A31 B EF R A
3.75% (20234 : 4.82%) °

BeERRTEBYURE
HSRITERK

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET AT

Cash on hand FHERE 176 171

Cash at banks RITIRE 23,664 11,385

Cash and cash equivalents BehBRLEEY 23,840 11,556
Short term bank deposits — time deposits £ #i$R 7777 5k — #) 2 EI HA HABR

with initial maturity period over three BB =1{E A e e BER
months 70,758 60,408
KEZREERERAR 2024FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
SHORT TERM BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and short term
bank deposits are denominated in the following currencies:

23 RERREEEYURE
HRRITER @)
BeRESEEYLREHRTER
B T LA T 51| B 5t 0

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Hong Kong dollar PETT 54,603 40,090
usD =TT 39,594 30,408
JPY H 401 1,466
94,598 71,964

Note: Bt

Cash at banks and short term bank deposit earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group is cash at banks and short term bank

deposits totaling to HK$94,422,000 (2023: HK$71,793,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average effective interest rate on short term
bank deposits was approximately 4.23% (2023: 4.73%) per annum. These deposits had
an average maturity period of 158 days (2023: 184 days).

24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(@) Share capital and premium

RITH S R HRITHEREZE B RITF R R B

HUF R °

AEBEHEBENSZRAEERRARITEERRE
HAER 1T 7 30 A 594,422,000/ 7T (2023 & -
71,793,00058 L) °

2024412 A31 8 - 8 ERITFE KA M4 F 35

BERFFELHA23% (20234 : 4.73%) ° Z2%F
R EIEEARR & 158 H (20234 : 184 H) »

24 BRAR #E
(a) RAERHE

Authorised:
At 31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and

EIE

MN2023512 8318 -

20241 A1 H K

Nominal value
of ordinary
shares

Share
premium
%15 R E

HK$’000
TET

EBEREE
HK$'000
TAETT

No. of shares
RinEH

31 December 2024 202412 A31H 2,000,000,000 20,000 =
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE :
At 31 December 2023, 2023124318 -

1 January 2024 and 20241 A1 R

31 December 2024 202412 A31H 800,000,000 8,000 42,776
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Contribution reserve

(9]

Contribution reserve in the consolidated balance sheet
represents contribution from the then shareholders of the
Company as a result of a reorganisation upon its listing on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Share-based payment reserves

The Share Option Scheme was approved and conditionally
adopted by the then shareholders of the Company by way of a
written resolution on 24 October 2017 for the primary purpose
of recognising and acknowledging the contribution of the
directors, employees and other eligible parties who have made
valuable contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not, in
aggregate, exceed 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% the shares
of the Company. The maximum number of shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes involving the issue or grant of
options or similar rights over shares or other securities by the
Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to each eligible participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue unless
approved in advance by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the
Board of Directors may determine which shall not exceed ten
years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof.

24 BRA R G#E @)
(b) TEGE

(9]

HEEERABRANIERER
ARRAFEFRRNE BB E
Mg EETEAMIELAEE ©

UGB HERIRRE

ARAFERRKRRER2017F10 A
0B UEmAZ R EBBARLE
R RMERETS  FE2EHN
AR METESR - EEREAM
BEBRALTHAERELNES
Bk e

BRI AR 4 B AR i 51 2l S AR (] H M &
BB BITHARMDEE LR - &
H 15 15 80,000,000 A% B 17 -
BIARA RIAE 1D 10% o AR 15 B A%
R R S R AR R EEIT
B BB R R 8 AR 1) S B b 7E
K F8 AR A1) /9 H 4th s e i 5T 2
EREREFTENMERITE
FE IR TR T P) R BX 1T B AR (D
HE LR AHETHEHBAETEE
BEITRIDAI30% ©

REMI12E A HEASEER
SEERTEMERERE (2
RETERRITEREE) D&
BT RSEETOROAE T
SHEBEEITRMODM1% BRI
BARDBBRRNBERAS LHE -

BRERESTEAURETNE
A P 8 s AR s SO & &1 IR K AT
% - HERSMETSEAHRRE
BHIERE + 6 - WRIRATAR L F
SRR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

25 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLESAND 25 BZE{NFE - HtES

ACCRUED LIABILITIES REREGFERE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Tradepayables  ____ HZENSE - S 103
Provision for long service payments and RERGe ke E 27
gratuities 32,261 21,699
Provision for unutilised annual leave AEAEREE 2,549 2,763
Accrued wages, salaries and pensions B TE  FHekRKe 24,751 22,051
Other accrued expenses and payables Hipfertis REMZKIE 3,492 4,058
Total other payables and accrued liabilities Lt JE < 5008 [ JE =1 B (B4 %8 63,053 50,571

Total trade and other payables and accrued & 5 & E b BB AE

liabilities aEE 63,053 50,674
Less: Non-current B FEmE (699) -
Current e 62,354 50,674
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of the trade M2024 %2023 12 A31H B 5 E
payables based on invoice date was as follows: NRIBREZABMNRESTAT -

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
0-30 days 0E30XK - 103
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are denominated REEE S EMNRIENREENKST
in HKS. FHE -
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables and accrued ARE RS B 5 R EMEN
liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short maturities. FIEREFEENREOERAEATE
BE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

26 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred income taxes are calculated in respect of temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

BELERBRE
— BB 1R2EAREE

Deferred tax liabilities
— to be settled after more than 12 months

26 EERIE

R 1980 79 31 42 B DA (R R 9 5
0L 8 5 B 94 0 S B
it E -

2024
HK$'000

2023
HK$'000
T

FET

135 216

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year,
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within
the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

FRREHRIBEEERBENE S CRET
R IHE — T REAREE AR )
T

ELEBIBEE

Lease liabilities Total

HEAE At

HK$'000 HK$'000

T T FHIT

At 1 January 2023 MR2023F1A1H 30 30

Credited to profit or loss MiBzmETA 14 113 113
At 31 December 2023 and M2023F 128318 K

1 January 2024 20241 A1 H 143 143

Charged to profit or loss RIB= bR 14 (54) (54)

At 31 December 2024 M 2024F 12 A318 89 89

Deferred tax liabilities

ELEBERR

Accelerated  Right-of-use
depreciation assets Total
mEHE CERAREE gt
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET TET
At 1 January 2023 M2023F 1A 1H (174) (135) (309)
Charged to profit or loss REBZ kR 14 54 (104) (50)

At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H

and 1 January 2024 20241818 (120) (239) (359)
Charged to profit or loss KB 14 57 78 135
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12 A31H (63) (161) (224)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has no significant
unrecognised deferred tax assets.

HEREERER AR

R20244 N 2023F 12 8318 » A&
EYEEARERELCHRBEE -

2024 FEWRE
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27 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

How these are accounted for

The Group commitment to pay lump sum payment to certain
employees upon their cessation of employment is the lump sum
long service amounts payable on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance or
gratuity, which is certain percentage of the employees’ total wages
earned during the period, whichever is higher. The Group’s net
obligation is the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method by a
qualified actuary, discounted to its present value, and the fair value
of any related plan assets, if any, is deducted. The discount rate is
the yield at balance sheet date on Exchange Fund Notes that have
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.
All actuarial gains and losses of provision of long service payments
are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income in
the period in which they occur. Past-service costs are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Modern Living Property Management Limited (“Operating
Subsidiary”) is obligated to make lump sum payments on cessation
of employment in certain circumstances to certain employees who
have completed at least five years of service with the Operating
Subsidiary or lump sum payments to the non-skilled workers who
has completed one or more year of service to get the gratuities,
whichever is higher. The Group does not set aside any assets to
fund any remaining obligations. The payments are paid out from the
Group's cash in hand when such payments are required.

The latest actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
specifically designated for the Group’s employees was completed by
a qualified actuary, BonVision International Appraisals Limited, using
projected unit credit method.

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

27 EERAE(E

BFREHE

AEBRE TR B BB M HE N —
IR R AT RIRIR B S CRIB R
RETER TR IELEREASINN—
RERBRGEHME - B8 TR
IR TE AR E T B2 (AR
BER/E) AKENETFE/ET
7B A N8 1 B A L AR A% BX [0
MM ARKRENEE - ZBEIH
BERBEMNAEEEMEEA
BYWRBEEHBE  MEMB@S
BEMA) 2AFER T AR - f
RESBASBENFETFHRAELZ
SINEESRBERGEEBEZER - K
R BRE A RE NG REIEY
T EE A BT P BV B 70 L ) 2 T U A B
R o BE R KA R RS AR

7
A °

HEMEEBERAR ((KREHBER
AN ARERETER T LERE
REREEHBARERREDAFR
BHETEEEL —RIERFK - L@
TR —FRZFRENIFERMTAR
H—RENFAREHE ARSER
#) c REBWES B EIMEENSE
MESEHREREES -FADRFER
EHERNAERARENTFHERES
At e

20244 K% 2023412 A31 B %5l
EERAEBEREEETHNRIBEM
BB — %A E%IBE R BonVision
International Appraisals Limited {# f 78
HBEUEREETK



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

27 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continves) 27 BERBREE )

How these are accounted for (Continued) SRR ®)
(@) The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are (@ REEEERABEXRTEIANSE
as follows: KZDT :
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Present value of employee benefit EERMNEEERE
obligations 32,261 21,699
(b) Movements in the net liability recognised in the consolidated by REEEEEABBRTHERAMNERE
balance sheet are as follows: FREEBIIT
2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx T
At 1 January w1 A1 21,699 19,205
Expense recognised in the consolidated ﬁA?T{:.\HﬁU\%%':F' TR E X
income statement 10,226 6,414
Loss/(gain) recognised in the other REMEEEIEFERAN
comprehensive loss B8 (Was) 2,942 (111)
Benefits paid =ENEER (2,606) (3,809)
At 31 December W12 A31H 32,261 21,699
()  Expenses recognised in the consolidated income statement is as (© REERARPEROAZAT
follows:

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHETT

Past service cost B RIS A AR (98) (45)
Current service cost BIVEA AR 755 AK 7K 9,582 5,743
Interest cost ) &2 Ak 7R 742 716
10,226 6,414
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

27 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continves) 27 BERBREE 2
How these are accounted for (Continued) 2 EE &)

(d)  Loss/(gain) recognised is as follows: (d) mERHEE (k)T :

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT T

Actuarial loss/(gain) — demographic BEER(WE) — AARE

assumptions 2,942 111)
(e) The principal actuarial assumptions used as at 31 December () H 2024 202312 A31BfE
2024 and 2023 (expressed as weighted average) are as follows: AMEEREREZ (AMEFH
25T :
2024 2023
Discount rate BLER % 3.39% 3.64% and 4.14%
3.39% 3.64% N 4.14%
Salary growth rate HaERE 4.46% 3.94%

Impact on employee benefit obligations

HESENREAENTE

Change in Increase in Decrease in
assumption assumption assumption

BREH BRI h0 BB

At 31 December 2023: 20235128318 :

Discount rate BRI R 0.50%  Decrease by 0.68% Increase by 0.70%
B 0.68% #100.70%
Salary growth rate HelRE 0.50% Increase by 0.02%  Decrease by 0.02%
1£500.02% " 0.02%

At 31 December 2024:  7A2024%12H318:

Discount rate BRI & 0.50% Decrease by 0.247% Increase by 0.251%
"2 0.247% 121n0.251%
Salary growth rate HelR% 0.50% Increase by 0.005% Decrease by 0.005%
12 £10.005% H 4 0.005%
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an LA BRES T TIER —BBRR
assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In SHWEFBEHMBRRTE -
practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the B E - A KAIgeEE - &
assumptions may be correlated. RER Y & B ] 6 B ARG o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

28 BUSINESS COMBINATION 28 EBA6t

In October 2023, the Group acquired 30% remaining equity MR2023F10H - REBUBE 2 KE
interest of Modern PropTech Limited, a former joint venture of 278 TR B AN & Bl AT & & 1 % Modern
the Group, at a cash consideration of HK$2. Upon the completion PropTech Limited %l # 30% A% ## -
of the acquisition, the Group held the entire equity interest of 58 A UHE 18 - 7N & B 5 A Modern
Modern Proptech Limited. A loss in acquisition of this transaction Proptech Limited #) 2 & ix # - # =
approximately amounting HK$1,277,000 has been recognised as 2023F 12 A3MBIEFE  ZRSH
"Other losses, net” in the consolidated profit or loss for the year W BE BB 491,277,000 T E RN 4R & 18
ended 31 December 2023. mErPERAHaE R EE] -

The following table summarises the consideration paid for the TREA A UEE B BRI RE
acquisition, the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at B EERFTEAEEENATE -

the acquisition date.

2023

HK$'000
FTHET

Cash received from the other shareholder B&ZMES—RRWEINE S
of the joint venture -

Fair value of net liabilities acquired — FrikiE e EFEMATE — 3 RET
shown as below 1,277
Loss on acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — M B A Rl A E1a o (1,277)
The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities Fr i r Al EERFIEAEBENA
assumed are as follows: FEMT :
2023
HK$°000
FEx
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITHER 90
Other receivable H fth FE SR IE 21
Other payables and accrued liabilities Hip eI IEREFT B E (1,388)
Total identifiable net liabilities acquired Fris g ml s Rl B B SRR A T (1,277)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 29 MEBRERER
FLOWS
(a) Cash generated from operations () REBHRSE

2024

HK$'000
TR

Cash flows from operating activities RELEZHNRLTE

2023
HK$'000
TAT

Profit before income tax B TSt A& A 20,251 19,816
Adjustments for: FATIEE EH
Share of results of investments AMERA R EAR

accounted for using the equity method X & %% - 662
Depreciation of plant and equipment BE RS ETE 17 604 630
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 18 881 923
Finance income IBEWA 13 (5,205) (5,038)
Finance costs BB 13 100 293
Gain on investment in an insurance R—IBRIERE O R E R 19

contract (64) (86)
Loss on acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RRBARMER 9 - 1,277
Unrealised currency translation RERERREEE/(KH)

losses/(gains) 595 (223)
Operating profits before working HELESEBANEERR

capital changes 17,162 18,254
Changes in working capital: HEERE
Retention money receivables EWRE 2 369 1,103
Trade receivables and contract assets BHRWFIERANEE 12,040 (2,906)
Prepayments, deposits and BRNHE  Ze2 Rk

other receivables Hof U IR (1,581) (1,254)
Trade payables 2SN (103) 37
Other payables and accrued liabilities HtEANREREFAE 9,541 4,901
Cash generated from operations REMBHRS 37,428 20,135
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29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

As at 31 December 2022 and 1202212 A31 8B &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

29 MEBRERER®)

(b) MEFBELENEEYR

Bank

borrowings
RITHER

HK$'000
TR

Lease
liabilities Total
HEERE st
HK$'000 HK$’000
T TFHTT

1 January 2023 20231 81H 4,800 2,155 6,955
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE = 118 118
Cash flows REME (4,800) (1 (4,801)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 2023F 12 A31H &

1 January 2024 202451 A1 H - 2,272 2,272
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE - 100 100
Cash flows Renhe - (985) (985)
Total debt at R2024% 12 A31HH

31 December 2024 B4R - 1,387 1,387

30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of the following:

(i)

(ii)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had entered into 29 (2023:
24) performance bonds with certain banks. The aggregate
amount of the performance bonds was HK$69,990,000 (2023:
HK$64,440,000) as at 31 December 2024. The directors do not
consider it probable that a claim on the performance bonds will
be made against the Group; and

In carrying out the ordinary course of business, the Group
is subject to the risk of being named as defendant in legal
actions, claims and disputes in connection with its business
activities. The nature of the legal proceedings initiated against
the Company mainly includes claims for compensation by the
Group's existing or former employees for work related injuries.
The Group maintains insurance cover and, in the opinion of the
directors of the Group, based on current available evidence,
any such existing claims and legal proceedings against the
Company have no material financial impact to the Company as
at 31 December 2024.

HREE
AEBBATEEARAAME :

(i)

R2024F 12 A31H » KREBFR
= TRITEIL 2978 (20234 -
24TH) BHRFE R - R 20244
12A318  BHRESHLE
/569,990,000 7T (2023 4 :
64,440,000 7L) cEER AT
RO R £ AEBIERNE
HRFERE &

RETHEEBNBES K&
BB ESEENAERTT
B REKFHENHEEHRAR -
HEAR R BB EAERFAE
EXZRRASERAENRNEES
RIEELEERR AEEF
R BASBESRAE A
RERASHER  R2024F
12A318 ' #tEH A QR W EMA
BRBRBRENEEEFEAA
RIWES NUBTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

31 BANK FACILITIES 31 RITRE
The amounts of banking facilities and the utilisation at the end of REREARRITHREFERERBR
each reporting period are set out as follows: AT -
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT T
Facility amount EE 125,000 157,500
Utilised facility amount in respect of BHARFLHNEFEAMERE
performance bonds (64,440) (64,440)
Unutilised facility amount REFARERE 60,560 93,060
As at 31 December 2024, the banking facilities granted to the Group R2024F 12 8318 AEBERIR
are secured by: TRERERAT :
(i)  The Group's Insurance contract of HK$2,664,000 (2023: () AEBEMRES 42,664,000%
HK$2,600,000) (Note 19); 7t (2023 £F : 2,600,000 7% 7T) (Bff
F19)
(i) The Group’s pledged bank deposits of HK$39,519,000 (2023: (i)  ANEEDHEIIRITFE39,519,000
HK$39,550,000) (Note 22); and 7 7T (20234 : 39,550,000/% 7T)
(Bft3E22) « &
(i) The corporate guarantee executed by the Company (2023: (iiy ANRAFEILHDEER (2023 F -
same). R o
32 BANK BALANCES IN CLIENT ACCOUNTS 32 REFERFHNRITHEER
Certain bank accounts were opened and held in the name of the ETRITRPIUAEEANEBHE
entity within the Group on behalf of 2 customers (2023: 1). Such ZERRMBEF R EFFEF (2023 :
bank accounts are regarded as client accounts held on behalf of third —&) BEARTEPHERARKE=
parties and are not recognised as assets and associated liabilities in FRENEFPERER  BXTRASEE
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. REVBRERTERRREERABEE -
As at 31 December 2024, the Group held a total of HK$46,004,000 M2024%F 128318 AEBERK
(2023: HK$19,655,000) in various trustee bank accounts on behalf ZEARMHNEFAELBEHEERES
of Estate Common Area Management Fund of various estates. The REZEASZTARTEFEEAH
fund is for the purposes of the deposit of revenues collected and 46,004,0007% 7T (2023 4F : 19,655,000
the making of payments in respect of daily operation of the estate BIL) c ES TARTHE Bk X
common area. RERAREH B EEEEDL AR -

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES

33 REMNETWEMIA

Financial assets
at amortised costs

RBERTARNERMEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET

Financial assets as RUBRRNEREE

per financial position

Retention money receivables FEWIREE & 21 1,654 2,023
Trade receivables and contract assets B S EKRRERAENEE 21 71,697 83,737
Deposits and other receivables & M H b fE W kIR 21 4,626 3,653
Pledged bank deposits EHERITER 22 39,519 39,550
Short term bank deposits RHIRITIE 23 70,758 60,408
Cash and cash equivalents RERBECEFEY 23 23,840 11,556
Total HEt 212,094 200,927

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RBERAAENEREE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FHETT

Financial liabilities as RUBRANEHEE

per financial position

Trade payables 2 5 e I8 25 - 103
Other payables H e IR 25 3,492 4,058
Lease liabilities HE&E 18 1,387 2,272
Total FEEy 4,879 6,433

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by Chun Wo Overseas (incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands), which holds 64.95% of the Company’s shares.
R5A Group Limited (incorporated in British Virgin Islands) owns 10%
of the Company’s shares. The remaining 25.05% of the shares are
widely held.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party, to joint control
over the party or exercise significant influence over the other party
in making financial and operation decisions, or vice versa. Related
parties may be individuals (being members of key management
personnel, significant shareholders and/or their close family members)
or other entities and include entities which are under the significant
influence of related parties of the Group where those parties are
individuals. Parties are also considered to be related if they are
subject to common control.

3 BBARS

REEREMEN (RAEFHSTM
BRL) B R FBINER RN AR A
64.95% HM% 1% ° RSA Group Limited (£
REBRZBESHMKY) BEARQA
10% MIRR 1D © 82 T~ 25.05% B D 4 Bz
SR

EERFBRELERRE MR-
BN BERAREES - HRAZES S
—HHE R —HHENEAZE (RZTF
R) - IR RFHERBER - B
AT REAIEEERAEBKE
SREERRR FEENRERE
RB)SHEMER  WBRREIAKERA
BTEAAEARENER - WEHR
HRES - QIR S EREBEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 34 BEBARZ )

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, BRA&R & B 75 Rk H fth it 75 Fr #E B2 A1 -
the Group had the following related party transactions: REBBNTHEAB IR S
(a) Key management compensation () FEEEEHM
Key management compensation are as follows: FTEFEEFMAT :
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTEx T
Basic salaries, allowances and benefits R A& 2B K EF 3,676 3,546
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 111 74
Employer’s contribution to 1’ & [A) 52T iSRG 21 A9 K
a defined contribution plan 920 90
3,877 3,710
35 CAPITAL COMMITMENT 35 EAREE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no capital M20244F 2023412 A31H - A&
commitment. I 7 f A AA] B AN o
36 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 36 REH
There are no material subsequent events undertaken by or impacted R2024F 12 A3 BB REEARE
on the Group subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date BHIE ANEESEBEEABES
of this report. HNEX EERFE o
37 COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 37 EHF
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to ETUBRBEFTEEHHE UFER
the current year’s presentation and disclosures. FE2INFARKE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

38 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 38 XA RINEEEBRERF

OF THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company

w2
ARANEERER

As at A
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
R 2024 F 2023 4
128318 12 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KK B R RHIEE 104,872 106,779
e e o e MR s e A 104,872 106,779
Current assets RBEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekIReEEY 207 217
e e e e 207 217
Total assets HMEE 105,079 106,996
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to the owners A2 F#EA AELER
of the Company
Capital FEAN 8,000 8,000
Reserves &1 96,931 98,848
Totalequity ~  #=#&®% 104,931 106,848
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accrued liabilities ~ E b BT K18 K fE5H & (& 148 148
Total liabilites ~~~~~ ®&®% 1“8 148
Total equity and liabilities BERABEE 105,079 106,996

The financial statements of the Company were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2025.

RABWMPBEREXS 202543 A20
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

38 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 38 XARINEEEBRERF
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Particulars of subsidiaries

Company name

NAER

Directly held

EERE

Modern Living
Investments Limited

Modern PropTech Limited
EEDEMRBRAF
Indirectly held
BEEE

Modern Living Property
Management Limited

EEDEERBRAF

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

R AL 3t B R
ERERER

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability company

RBRAES  ARAA
Hong Kong, limited liability

company

BE  ARAQF

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BE - BRAR

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

Issued and fully
paid share capital

ERTR
BrRE

UsSD1
1%
HK$100,000

100,000 % 7T

HK$21,460,000

21,460,00078 7T

k- INC ),
(a) MIBARFE

Principal activities
and place of operation

FEEDR
EE-Siuk

Equity interest
held as at
RUT B8
BRzRE

2024 2023

Investment holding 100% 100%

in Hong Kong
REBREEKR
Research and development 100% 100%
in Hong Kong

WNEBE

Provision of property 100% 100%
management services
in Hong Kong

REARENXERRG



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR R

38 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 38 XA RINEEEBRERF
OF THE COMPANY (Continued) wE2E )

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) XATRMNRELE

Share Contribution Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
RO EE EEHE 2itERE i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TEL
As at 1 January 2023 W2023F1818 42,776 61,600 (4,622) 99,754
Profit and total comprehensive income & 3 | 12
fortheyer *EAmeR - - s 11,094
Transactions with owners in their HBEEANEREEANR S :
capacity as owner:
Dividend paid ERRE:
— 2022 final dividend — 2022 FRER R - - (6,000 (6,000)
—2023interim diidend —203%RARE - - (60000 (6,000
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, -~ (12000 (12,0000
At 31 December 2023 M20235F12A31H 42,776 61,600 (5,528) 98,848
As at 1 January 2024 N202451818 42,776 61,600 (5,528) 98,848
Profit and total comprehensive income R I
fortheyear *EAmeR - - s 14,283
Transactions with owners in their HBEEANERBEEANR S :
capacity as owner:
Dividend paid ERRE:
— 2023 final dividend —2023FRERE - - (5,000) (5,000)
— 2024 interim dvidend —204%EARE - - (11200 (11,2000
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, - - (16200 (16,2000
At 31 December 2024 R2024512A31H 42,776 61,600 (7,445) 96,931
HEEEERARRNT 2024 FEHRE
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RE #E8REREHE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the seventh Environmental, Social and Governance report
(the “ESG report”) published by the Company. By reporting the policies,
measures and performances in environmental, social and governance (the
"ESG") aspects, the Company aims to allow all stakeholders to understand
the progress and development direction of the Group. The report is
available in both English and Chinese.

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The Group's ESG report focuses on its property management services
between 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 (the “reporting year”).
The reporting scope covers the headquarter office in Shek Mun, Shatin
(the "headquarter office”) and all the management offices of public or
subsidised housing estates managed by the operating subsidiary of the
Company, namely Modern Living Property Management Limited (hereafter
as the “operating subsidiary”).

The following table specifies the details of the management offices of the
premises managed by the Company in 2024:

BARA®E

RBERARBEMNELORE HERE
aHmE (TESGHRE]) - KREEE A BERE
RE @ RER(ESGH) THMEE -
MERAER - EPTA RS AT B SR B ) R A
BRITM - MERB P EIRA -

BE 3R #5 &

RESGHRE M E2024F1 A1 HE 20244
NRANBHB((AREFE]) SENYE
ERR - ESGREBERIEMN D BAR
mapEE (AR EE])  ARBAAR
REINEENBAR — HKEMEEEER
ARI(THIEENBLAR]) EENAMAEAQ
HEBREDEEEENREE (RB[EE
HE]) o

TRINEARATN 2024 FLEH B FEIS

Number of staff

Management Office Location

as of 31 Dec 2024 Operation Period in 2024

2024512 A31H

iyl pe$:: Y

EEME EEREER

FEE

BT A%

2024 FE 2 EHH

Tin Yiu Estate Tin Shui Wai 262 01 Jan — 31 Dec
RIE B RKE 1A1B—12A31H
Shui Pin Wai Estate Yuen Long 92 01Jan — 31 Dec
K32 E B TTHA 1TA1B—12A31R
Headquarter Office Shatin 39 01 Jan — 31 Dec
BEBMER »H 1TA1H—12A31H
Mei Pak Court Shatin 18 01 Jan — 31 Dec
EA%e | 1A1HA—12A31H
Choi Wo Court Shatin 28 01 Jan— 31 Dec
ARG | 1A1H—12A31H
Shan Lai Court North 68 01 Jan — 31 Dec
LS, pldi 1TH1H—12H31H
King Tai Court San Po Kong 21 01Jan — 31 Dec
SR ¥ 5E 1A1B—12A318
High Prosperity Terrace Kwai Tsing 30 01Jan — 31 Dec
mRE B 1A1B—12A31R
Sheung Tak Estate Tseung Kwan O 183 01 Jan— 31 Dec

fe {28

1 E R

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024
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Management Office

EEME EEREER

Location

FEE

Number of staff
as of 31 Dec 2024
2024%12A31H

AL & E b Bh Y

BT A

Operation Period in 2024

2024 FE 2 & EHHY

Hau Tak Estate Tseung Kwan O 143 01 Jan — 31 Dec
EREL % BB 1H1B—12A318
Siu Sai Wan Estate Eastern District 197 01 Jan — 31 Dec
NFEIE R K@ 1H1B—12A31H8
Oi Tung Estate Eastern District 127 01 Jan — 31 Dec
BRP R @ 1A1B—12A318
Chai Wan Eastern District 50 01 Jan — 31 Dec
seg R@ 1H1B—12A318
Tsui Wan Estate Eastern District 4 01Jan— 31 Dec
By i @ 1H1B—12A31H8
Fung Wah Estate Eastern District 4 01Jan— 31 Dec
I 2 R @ 1A18B—12A318
Kei Wah Court Eastern District 19 07 Jul— 31 Dec
SEEESE R@ 7A78 —12A31H
Ma Hang Estate Southern District 106 01 Jan — 31 Dec
B R 2 1H1H—12A31H
Wah Kwai Estate Southern District 35 01 Jan — 31 Dec
EEP (=1 1A18B —12A31H
Lei Tung Estate Southern District 13 01 Jan — 31 Dec
MR LB 2 1H1B—12A318
Sai Wan Estate Central & Western District 44 01 Jan — 31 Dec
FHIR P AR 1H1B—12A31H8
1,483

2 Excluding 268 staff in security services and other offices who work outside of the above * TEFER _E Al & E 2 9 T 1B/ 268 5 (R Z AR5

operating sites

Environmental key performance indicators (“KPIs”) of this ESG report cover
the headquarter office and offices of the above sites of operation. All of
the Company’s sites of operation are in Hong Kong.

Reporting Standard

This ESG report is prepared per the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix 20 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The four reporting principles,
namely the principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,
form the backbone of this ESG report.

RESGHRE MIRERBAER IR RIEBI N
b E R F R - AERE RS E R
BHERE -

I 35 2%

RESGHERBEEH AR ZMAR LA
(GEMEZ» LR M-+ 2 GRIK - 1
ERERBEESD (KESGHREHEED]) &
o MAERRA —E21 - 81 ¥
K —BUE R R B AR B AN ESG s My &R -

KEZREERERAR 2024FERE
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To provide stakeholders with an overview of the Group’s performance
in ESG aspects, the report not only discloses environmental KPIs required
under the “comply or explain” provisions but also reports additional social
KPIs under the “recommended disclosures” as set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide. A complete index is inserted in the last section of this ESG report for
reference.

Data Preparation

The Group has established internal controls and a formal review process to
ensure that any information presented in this ESG report is as accurate and
reliable as possible. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company
has overall responsibility for the establishment and disclosure of relevant
measures and KPIs. This ESG report was reviewed by the Board on 20
March 2025.

Feedback Channel

Comments and suggestions can help define and strengthen the Group’s
future ESG strategy and reporting. Stakeholders are welcome to contact
the company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Committee by email
at enquiry@modernliving.com.hk.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

At the heart of our organisation lies the belief that our people are
our greatest assets. Empowering our workforce is synonymous with
empowering our company. A dedicated, continuously learning team is
the most valuable resource we have, while fostering strong relationships
with our vibrant community is fundamental to our success. Modern Living
embraces a people-centric approach to promote sustainability both within
our Group and in the communities we serve.

We firmly believe that our commitment to sustainability aligns with the
United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goal 11, which focuses on
fostering Sustainable Cities and Communities, while simultaneously
creating long-term value for our stakeholders. By prioritising people
and the community, we strive to cultivate a culture of care for both the
community and the environment among our employees. We recognise
that the well-being of the community is a crucial metric for measuring our
business success.

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

B A B 7 ESG T E VA -+
S T EIR(ESG 3R 153 1 [ TMSF B AR A
XM ERH B R RGBS - BE
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% .

EHBERES

EEEEVERBZRE  BRAESGHRE
FIRERNERE S B AL ERER S - KA T
EEeHEYYHBERBREGERBEREN
EIZREERET B2 M 2025F3 4
20 BB AESGHRE o

REERE

MM ENEEEREL MAREE R
KEESGREE AMESR - B S ABBE
#enquiry@modernliving.com.hk 2 2 &) # 37
5 HEREREZEG(ESGERER)ME -
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We understand that no business operation exists in isolation from the
natural environment, resources, and the communities in which we operate.
With this in mind, we have refined our internal control processes to assess
risks related to health, safety, the environment, and society. Moving
forward, we will ensure that our enhanced systems effectively evaluate
imminent ESG risks, enabling us to prepare proactively for societal and
market changes. Our commitment extends to providing a nurturing
environment for the communities we serve, employing various measures
to reduce emissions across all operations. Environmental compliance is
merely the starting point; we are committed to continually improving our
environmental performance through responsible resource consumption
and reducing our carbon footprint.

Engaging with stakeholders is essential to strengthening our sustainability
initiatives. By actively involving both internal and external stakeholders,
we gain valuable insights into their opinions and expectations, allowing
us to develop actionable plans that address the most pressing issues. Their
feedback has been instrumental in guiding the preparation of this ESG
report. We aspire to emerge as an industry leader in sustainability while
fostering a culture of compassion and support within the community.
We are confident that innovation and unwavering dedication, combined
with stakeholder support, will continue to lead us toward a brighter, more
liveable future for all.

To facilitate the Group’s new business developments, we are establishing
an Environmental, Social, and Governance Committee (the "ESG
Committee”) under the Board of Directors. This Committee will play a
pivotal role in steering our sustainability efforts, providing oversight on
issue identification, policy development and updates, risk assessment,
and practice monitoring across environmental, social, and governance
dimensions.

HMAA EAEBYTEBLNBRR
5 BERMBEMAMEELRMERE - BER
b RS EEAREIERAE - ARG iR
22 REMEESHEBORR - EBEXR
K- AP RELR T PIRY 35 08 R AR RE B AT Id
FRTRESGE - MBI AL E R
SRR - BT AGE IR 2 AR
RBMEREERKRE  YHEMELET
REREBERAB DB - ETREERR
R RABINBBRRENERER
KORL A HR B R RS 2= B BR IR A K

B 25 A\ B BB INSR BAPIRO AT 5 A B R AT 8
ZHREE - BBBEEMBAI RINBERA
28 RMESHEMEALHENESR
B WM BE B A ITRORT 8 - AR R
BRI - b I REE R A S RELAESG
BETHREERER - RAEESKATH
BERNTEEEE  RAKELEANEERH
BREXFHXE - HPIBEEHREETE
BVZEREA - N ERER AR H - ARSI AR
PIBRE S - EEEARE

RIEARENMEBER  BALEES
ETRYURR HERERZEG ([ESGR
Bgl) ZZBeREsIEABEERI(E
TREERFER HRE HERERTH
M ERE AR - R BIE R EH - BT &
FHRESREHER -

REREDRERART 2024FFHE
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ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s policies, initiatives,
and performance related to sustainability, particularly in areas such
as employment, community investment, environmental protection,
and operational accountability. Additionally, it establishes the Group’s
sustainability strategies, sets objectives, and approves specific targets.
The Board conducts regular reviews of ESG issues to enhance and better
demonstrate our commitment to corporate sustainability governance.

In the years 2023-2024, the Group received awards and certificates from
Social Capital Builder Award by Community Investment & Inclusion Fund
(CIIF), Happy Work Place, CMA ESG Pledge Scheme, BOCHK Corporate
Environmental Leadership Awards, and Hong Kong Green Organisation
Award as recognition to our commitment in ESG governance.

Performance & Risk Management

The Group views risk management as a fundamental component of daily
management activities and effective corporate governance. The Board is
ultimately responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems. Given that the Group’s main operations involve
property management for housing estates contracted by the Housing
Authority (HA), we adhere strictly to government regulations and other
international standards stipulated in our contracts.

1. The company’s business operation is audited and monitored by the
HA, with monthly as well as quarterly performance reports;

2. The company undertakes ISO 9001, ISO 10002, I1SO 14001 and
ISO45001 on our environmental, societal and occupational practices

performance; and

3. The company employs an external independent consultancy to
conduct an annual review on internal control.

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

ESGERBER
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group highly values the concerns of our stakeholders and is committed
to addressing their needs. Feedback from stakeholders plays a crucial
role in helping the Group identify material ESG issues and effectively
manage associated risks and opportunities. During the reporting year, we
engaged with key stakeholders through multiple channels to gather their
insights and foster continuous improvement. The table below outlines
the significant engagements between the Group and various types of
stakeholders:

Customers/Tenants/
Residents

EFE/HE/BR

Employees

&8

Suppliers
HIER

Offering a diverse
array of initiatives
aimed at fostering
professionalism,
creating a healthy

and positive workplace,
and enhancing the
well-being of our
employees

Conducting on-site
review quarterly to
identify areas for
improvement and
to meet with their
expectation

Setting specifications
and requirements with
annual evaluation to
ensure the quality of
materials purchased

Conducting KYC
Organising estate- exercise to suppliers
based activities with

resident representatives

HITSEE - UME BFETARSEE [RTERBNERIE
EEERE EHEE T KETEREN TR BREAM
BREAMIESHAE FE: Wnemfs SeEx:
RAHE B R HAZE
B EEETRPS
HERRKRABKESR BFEKYC)
E)

Identifying Material Issues

Stakeholder participation is essential to the Group’s business management,
as it enables us to assess potential risks and business opportunities while
facilitating risk mitigation and opportunity identification. By understanding
stakeholders’ perspectives, the Group can better meet their needs and
expectations within our business practices and effectively manage diverse
opinions.

@ ANSHE

AEEFSEERED ANL - XHORW
REFFR - AWREEEDHEEZME
ENESGHEEAMNBREERBERR BT
HEBERER - NABREFE - HIEB
CRRBETERDALETER REE
B UBNHERE - AT REERZ R
BAZEHEIR2E :

Communities

HE

Government

BUF

Joining meetings

with key government
officials to understand
related policies and
initiatives

Supporting the
community through
teaming up with NGOs

Encouraging employees
to participate in charity

Participating in training activities and volunteer

courses provided by services
the government to
understand community
issues and government
standards
HIZHFEEL2N BBEFEBFESS
@ ATHRERR (FXHtR
KR

SEEESEEER
SEPFRENIZN BFEIRS

i
B TREREE

.

B EERE

REANSEEAKEXEHEENER F
PR PIRHEEERR KA - FSE &R
I RS - BB T RS ANES
AEBEREXEBERAERCRDZANE
KEHE  YERERERER -

HEREERAR AT 2024FEHRE
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In addition to insights from the Board and expert consultation, a survey
was conducted among senior and middle-management executives to
identify key issues relevant to the Group, aligned with the 17 Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) outlined in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable
Development by the United Nations. From the survey results, the Group
has identified three material issues from the 11 environmental and social
aspects of the ESG Reporting Guide that will serve as the focal points of
this ESG report. These issues include health and safety, development
and training, and decent work and economic growth.

Moving Forward on Stakeholder Engagement

By adopting a people-centric approach to promoting sustainability within
the Group and the community, we aim to gain a deeper understanding
of our stakeholders’ expectations and interests. This commitment ensures
that their feedback is effectively integrated into the development of our
sustainability strategy. To facilitate systematic and ongoing engagement
activities, the Group is in the process of developing a more comprehensive
engagement strategy, informed by frameworks such as the AA1000
Stakeholder Engagement Standard. This strategy will encompass detailed
planning for annual stakeholder engagement activities, as well as regular
assessments and reviews of material issues through stakeholder surveys.

CARING FOR OUR EMPLOYEES

As a caring and responsible employer, Modern Living is committed to
providing a high-quality workplace for its employees. We strive not
only to create a safe and healthy working environment but also to
offer opportunities for professional development and the realisation
of each individual’s potential throughout their career journey. As part
of our employee management system, the Group has implemented a
comprehensive set of policy statements and guidelines that reflect our
dedication to fostering a respectful, safe, and healthy workplace, while
promoting a culture of lifelong learning.

Health and Safety

The presence of any hazardous substances, physical and chemical hazards,
at the workplace puts employees at risk. Modern Living acknowledges its
responsibility to look after its employees and considers risk management
as a critical success factor in occupational health and safety (OHS)
management in the Employment and Labour Practices Policy Statement.
As part of the Group’s risk management system, the Safety Committee is
responsible for identifying work tasks with high risks, providing sufficient
guidance, training and personal protective equipment and conducting
regular risk assessment to ensure and maintain a safe working environment
for all employees.

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024
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There were no cases of workplace fatalities during the reporting year.
While 57 incidents of work-related injuries were recorded in the reporting
year, only 10 of the incidents were related to high-risk tasks. The work-
related injuries cases involved cleaners and security guards, incurred due
to accidents in regular work activities (e.g. patrols) or on the way to work
(e.g. tripping over on the road). Investigations and follow-up actions were
immediately undertaken within the Group.

The Group has taken a series of new initiatives and measures in the
reporting year to strengthen OHS management, for instances:

o Establishing a safety committee at every operation site with
representatives from headquarters and estate management office
across different organisational levels;

o Teaming up with healthcare NGOs to design special warm-up
exercises for workers;

o Giving incentives and awards for staff who maintain good OHS
practices and zero work-related injuries during the quarter/year;

o Enhancing and revamping high-risk locations, for instance, designing
safety steps on podium and rooftop, installing anchorage systems for
safety belts;

o Equipping frontline staff with extra assistive gears, for instance,
hiking sticks for security guards on patrol, to minimise injury; and

° Organising safety trainings for all front-line staff with topics
covering especially high-risk conditions, such as fire safety, proper
use of personal protective equipment, hazard prevention & control,
workplace violence prevention, safe working practices, etc.
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In the post-pandemic era, the Company carries on with scrupulous and
innovative measures to ensure the workplace health and safety:

o Keeping close contact with government departments such as HA,
Centre for Health Protection and Home Affairs Department on
actions and arrangements related to sanitisation, social distancing,
and other measures to stay alert on COVID-related infections and
other health risks.

o Guidelines and instructions from the HA and other government
departments were promptly communicated to staff of all levels.

o Estate management offices at sites of operation followed the
HA's guidelines on office opening hours and work-from-home
arrangements.

o The headquarter office constantly monitored the stock and supply of
protective gears and sanitisation materials.

o Al robots were mobilised to disinfect public areas of the sites of
operation and disseminate messages on public health and hygiene.

. Masks, hand sanitisers and various forms of disinfectants were
provided for staff daily use, if needed.

Development and Training

Investing in learning and development for employees is the key driver
for building a talented and engaged workforce. Through learning and
development opportunities, our employees can acquire professional
knowledge and skills to enhance competencies in terms of career growth
and development. This commitment is underlined in our Employment
and Labour Practices Policy Statement, which prescribes the allocation of
resources to staff development and training.
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During the reporting year, the Group continues to encourage employees MRABEEE  EEETHEZXBEZ SN
to attend seminars and talks organised by the Housing Authority as  EM BT EFFIEITEM R & K& B » B I8
well as other government departments. At the same time, we reviewed #EBE2EFEERINBELZERTNESR
and redesigned the training programme by taking reference to social @ &f I BH R 1P E - AR L EH L
circumstances and how well our employees understand and respond to B B &2 7 K EEH KBt @ik N K55
certain social issues. The table below shows some of the areas where — FIiEE) o T&RHIE T &0 & B 2 MA9E )€

employees receive education and training: i
Training Themes Content Highlights
Bl EmE EXRR
Professional standards o Online data management
HEMB M EBRER

o Licensing regime under Property Management Services Ordinance
MEEIREEEE

o Handling of Regulatory Actions
RERD RBEBITENERE

Employment & labour practices o Labour benefits
BERSIER BTEH
o Occupational health and safety practices in office
MAEBERREREER

Operating Practices o Prevention of bribery
HEIEREE B 1B B
o Handling personal data
B IR EAE R

o Regulations and policies on tenants of public housing
NEEP S RIRER
o Security and guarding ordinance and regulations
(R % e w187 AR 155 16k 151 ) B 45 51
o Pest control
=mba
° Tree management
BARE R
o Horticulture management and green roof planting
E&EE & ETEL
o Technical updates on site operation
T A2 B i 5B
o Energy management system
BEREIE R
o Waste management under the proposed Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) Charging
Scheme
BEZOHMEREZYMW) K ETE THEZEYER
J Resources management
BIRER
o Maintenance of flats
BAIRE
o Maintenance of lifts and elevators

EMRE

Community & Social Issues o Anti-mosquito and dengue fever measures
fE Rt gikR B S HE e 2 TE B B A8 B R e
o Identifying and supporting elderly people with dementia
5l e 2 R SR AR B AE 2B
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The Group also support the continuous education of employees, and
sponsors in part or in full their tuition fees for the courses and certifications.
In the reporting year we have sponsored staff in completing the following
courses and trainings:

J Certified First-Aid Course

o Hygiene Supervisor Training Course

o Certificate of the Electrician

o Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate

° Courses and seminars on ISO

o Courses and seminars on ESG & GRI

° Certificate in Public Housing Agency Management Course
o Master of Arts in Housing Studies

In the past year, the Group also endeavoured in researching and developing
innovative solutions to our daily operations. New systems with the aid of
technology have been created and implemented by staff members to drive
innovation and continuous improvement of the Company.

Employment System

Modern Living respects every employee and recognises the value of
diversity and equality. In addition to the Group’s Employment and Labour
Practices Policy Statement, the operating subsidiary has issued a Staff
Handbook, which includes detailed guidelines on recruitment, promotion,
dismissal, working hours, rest periods, compensation, benefits and welfare,
equal opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination as to ensure that
employees understand their rights and duties. For a fair, respectful and
inclusive working environment, employees are entitled to equal opportunity
in promotion decisions given their qualification, experience and work
performance.

Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited = Annual Report 2024

SEMEEE THREEE  WAE TRHER
DHREREPRENEEER - RARSF
B £EEHTEIZ2EITRIATRER

B

o WG

ol

EiRiz2

o FREEE ETIIRRE
e BEIRABRMERE

s BERZERIIKIAZ

o ISOMHBIRIE KA

=l

. ESG X GRI#8 8 k2
e DNHEEMHENREZERE
o XEBE+(BES)

BE—F  AEETBNARELAEAT L
EMEFTBRSTR - BTHEDRINE AN
BieH 525 SIS AR BIH) 8IF KA
‘iﬁ o

1= & =

HEBEFUEER BERRAZTEMTEE
MEE -BTEEN(ERERS TERBE
BRI 2EMBAREZEMI(ERT
M) FIERBE B BE TEH
2oKERE FH - FEREN  FEH
g ZILEMRERIES - BIRER T
BOMEMNER - RRIEAT  -BENE
BOTERE  EEAREREEE - R
TERRZETEETTHHRS -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR  HEREBRS

In case of suspected violation of the employment and labour practices,
employees are encouraged to report them to the Group via internal
whistleblowing channels. A dedicated email was set up by the CEO office
to handle reported cases. For each complaint received, a committee
comprising the CEO, the Operations Director, the HR Director and the
Property Manager of the sites of operations concerned will be set up.
This ad-hoc committee should investigate through interviews with the
informant(s), the victim(s) and other involved parties wherever applicable.
For each case investigated, a report should be prepared and will be
circulated among senior executives of the company. In case of suspected
criminal offence, the Company will alert the police and other relevant
government departments immediately.

The Group is also concerned with job satisfaction and exit arrangement for
staff. Managers of the sites of operations review regularly on the hiring of
suitable talents for middle and senior management posts, as well as the
reasons for staff to resign. In the reporting year, the Group’s operating
subsidiary received one new contract and two contract expiries. Close
discussions with ex- and new contractors were conducted to ensure a
smooth transition of the operation so as to help staff from ex-contractors
to be transferred to the Group and for our staff to be transferred to their
new employers if they so desire.

Labour Standards

Modern Living adopts a zero-tolerance policy against the use of child
labour and forced labour. Measures are taken to ensure adherence to the
Employment and Labour Practices Policy Statement. During the recruitment
process, the Human Resources Department is required to inspect the proof
of identity of all applicants (to both full-time and part-time positions)
such as Hong Kong Identity Card and valid work visa labels. Guidelines
regarding overtime work, allowances and compensation leave are specified
in the Staff Handbook, to reduce the risks of forced labour.

The Group abides by labour-related laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance and the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong. In the reporting year, one case of non-
compliance in relation to employment was reported and it had been duly
dealt with, and mitigation and rectification measures had been taken at all
levels.
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Decent Work & Economic Growth

By putting people first, in addition to workplace healthy and safety, and
development and training, the Group takes a further step to promote
professional development of the staff and share with all levels of staff
the proceeds of its business operation. The Company sets a clear career
path for young executives in their relevant fields, for instances, training
and advancement for EMA (Estate Management Assistant) and graduate
building surveyors, as well as promoting young managers with high
potentials to senior management.

The Company also offers various bonus and incentive schemes for staff to
enjoy the fruit of their contribution at work by merit for individual staff, by
project, and by team effort of sites of operation.

Modern Living also actively promotes health, physical well-being, and
sportsmanship among its employees by encouraging participation in various
outdoor activities, such as cross-country running, hiking, and marathons.
To support these initiatives, we provide sponsorship for team outfits and
cover registration fees, ensuring that our staff can engage in these events
without financial barriers, and fostering a spirit of community involvement
and teamwork. Through these efforts, we not only enhance our employees’
physical fitness and camaraderie but also contribute positively to the wider
community, aligning our corporate values with the pursuit of a healthy and
active lifestyle.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group believes in creating social value with our territory-wide
operations. Supporting the communities where we operate is one of our
opportunities to create such value, and we strive to build an inclusive
community. Our Community Investment Policy Statement underlines
the importance of engaging and supporting communities. The Group
contributes to the communities by encouraging its employees to take part
in volunteer services, as well as sponsoring community projects.

Promoting Community Well-being

In the reporting year, the Company remained active in the communities
where our business operates, and carried out initiatives in two main areas,
namely caring for people with disabilities, and promoting hygiene and
cleanliness. We encourage employees to proactively participate in events
and collaborate with NGOs and charities to organise related activities for
residents of the housing estates managed by the Group wherever possible.
For instance, we worked with various NGOs on installing emergency
response devices in domestic units for the hearing-impaired, and organised
monthly thorough sweeping and cleaning within the residential building
and public spaces regularly to keep the environment clean. During the
exercise, staff will also share health tips and environmental tips to residents.
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The company is dedicated to supporting government and NGO initiatives
aimed at enhancing public housing and community well-being. We actively
participate in projects on festive decorations in different times of the year
to uplift the living environment and foster a sense of belonging among
residents. Additionally, we prioritise the safety of communal facilities,
collaborating with local authorities to ensure they are well-maintained and
secure for all users. We also engage in outreach programs, such as visiting
elderly individuals living alone, providing companionship and assistance to
promote their well-being. Through these initiatives, we strive to contribute
positively to the communities we serve.

Our community investment endeavours in 2024 have received multiple
external recognitions. The Group has been recognised as a Caring
Company for over 10 consecutive years and a Happy Company for over 5
consecutive years, and is awarded the Social Capital Builder Awards, SCB,
issued by the Community Investment and Inclusion Fund since 2018. In
future, the Group will continue to refine its community investment projects
and make greater contributions to the sustainable development of the
community.

Innovation in PropTech

Modern Living is committed to investing in innovative technology
applications to enhance building services and property management.
We have integrated advanced solutions such as sanitation robots and
the latest Al devices to automate high-risk and time-consuming tasks,
significantly improving operational efficiency and safety. Our technological
investments extend to real-time monitoring systems that track building
conditions, including water leakage and indoor air quality. By leveraging
these innovations, we can proactively address potential issues, ensuring a
safe and healthy environment for our residents while optimising property
management processes. These efforts align with contemporary concerns
about hygiene and environmental quality, and foster trust and loyalty
among stakeholders, including clients, employees, and the community,
further elevating the company’s standing in the market. We aim ultimately
to contribute to a distinct brand identity that emphasises reliability,
innovation, and a commitment to enhancing the living experience, setting
the company apart as a leader in the industry.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

Acknowledging that climate change presents both risks and opportunities
for businesses and communities, we are dedicated to minimising the
environmental impact of our operations. The Group has established an
Environmental Protection Policy Statement that articulates our commitment
to safeguarding the environment and reducing the ecological footprint of
our business activities. We provide guidelines for employees to promote
environmentally sustainable practices within the workplace.
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Energy and Air Emission Management

The Group’s Environmental Protection Policy Statement prescribes actions
to promote energy conservation, to reduce waste, and to mitigate
pollution, including greenhouse gas (the “GHG") emissions and discharges
into water and land.

As an initial measure in developing a carbon reduction strategy, the Group
meticulously carries out a carbon assessment to measure the greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions, commonly referred to as “carbon emissions,”
associated with our operations during the relevant reporting year. This
quantification process adheres to the Guidelines for Accounting and
Reporting on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings
(Commercial, Residential, or Institutional) in Hong Kong, while also drawing
on other international standards such as ISO 14064 and the GHG Protocol.
The following table illustrates the energy consumption and emission
information of the Group during the reporting year:

Total GHG emissions Total energy consumption
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GHG emissions per employee

RERAFEE
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660.67 MWh
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498.84 tCO,-e
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The total GHG emissions of our headquarter office as well as our offices in
the sites of operation were 498.84 tonnes. Purchased electricity accounts
for a major part of the total GHG emissions, we therefore have established
a set of guidelines regarding energy efficiency in the headquarter office
and offices in the sites of operation. The practices prescribed in these
guidelines include:

Air conditioning & ventilation

Lighting

T A1 A 4R 20 A 2 5 i B i R AR R
BB E 249884 - BEEE NG BER
BEEREEN—KREH  REMAHET —
EEE TN E B B B R M BE R E FE B o
ESIHEME R

ZHEKRER L)

Maintain indoor air-conditioning temperature at 25.5
Celsius;

EEARENBEREERK255E
Improve air circulation to achieve cooling effects;
HEERBER  EVERUR
Turn off some air conditioners during lunch and off-
hours;
FEFERAFEM NSRRI B D =38
Put up double-layer bamboo blinds for windows
that face strong sunlight, to cool down the indoor

temperature and reduce pressures on air conditioning;

AEMGNGENEFPREKEEAEERE  REE

Remove unnecessary light pipes, light bulbs and
decorative lights;

BRTIBENRE  BRMELHE

Phase out old light tubes or bulbs and replacing them
with more energy-efficient LED light tube or bulb;
BEHXEFHMEXNNENRL  HREHREAERER
Adjust timers of automatic lighting system according
to the sunshine time;

BB RFEFAE G RAERRH ERES
Manage and monitor energy consumption, with
monthly inspections to identify abnormal switches
(premature lighting, late lighting) and to carry out

RORE IR D Z= SR R EEE S

—  Manage and monitor energy consumption, with
monthly inspections to identify abnormal use and to
carry out remedial actions.
HEERERERAEE BARKRRSETIERHE
FEI ERERE & B e 1 At o

From the previous reporting year, the Group has managed to minimise
Scope 1 Direct GHG Emissions by replacing the one passenger car deployed
by the Group with a battery electric vehicle, which also eliminates air
pollutants including NO,, SO, and RSP that are generated by petrol. The
Group will continue to assess our environmental performance to better
understand the use of resources and develop specific action plans and
develop more comprehensive carbon and other air emission reduction
targets.

remedial actions.
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Resource and Waste Management

Using energy and water prudently is important to the Group’s sustainability
performance as well as conserving natural resources. Using resources
efficiently and sustainably is part of our operational strategy.

In terms of water efficiency, various environmental initiatives have been
developed and implemented. To enhance water efficiency, employees are
encouraged to use water wisely and reminders such as stickers and posters
are posted at eye-catching locations around office toilets and pantries.
During the reporting year, the headquarter office and offices at the sites
of operations did not encounter any issues in sourcing water for property
management purposes. Excluding the amount of water consumption at the
headquarters office’, a total of 3,261.71m? of freshwater was consumed
by the Group during the reporting year.

As for waste management, domestic waste generated at the sites of
operations is regularly collected by the refuse collection vehicles of the
Food and Environmental Hygiene Department or its contractors, which are
transferred to the nearest refuse collection points. Within the management
offices, there are collection trays to collect paper that has only been used
one side for re-using. Whereas at all properties managed by the Group,
there are recycling bins to collect waste paper, waste metal, waste plastic
and light tubes to encourage waste reduction and recycling efforts. The
table below shows the amount of recyclable wastes collected during the
reporting year:

Aluminium
cans
(kg)
fREE (A T)

Paper (kg)
(D)

Total amount collected 1,083,363

! There is no communal water supply to the headquarter office; it is hence unable to

provide separate water consumption data to the Group for the reporting year.
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Other than within the sites of operation, the Group takes the initiative to
reuse or recycle materials from communal events, for instance, recycling
garden soils from the Hong Kong Flower Show, collecting and re-
planting mandarin orange pots and flower pots from Chinese New Year
celebrations, collecting and recycling mooncake boxes. The Group also
encourages site operation teams to minimise one-off festival decorations
and instead to use recycled materials for these occasions to promote
eco-friendliness and creativity.

The Group recognises the significance of accurate reporting on
environmental performance data, and hence has developed a system
in this reporting year to coordinate data reporting actions in all sites of
operations. Meanwhile, all sites of operations are preparing to apply for
the Source Separation of Domestic Waste Commendation Scheme by the
Environmental Protection Department of the Hong Kong Government in
the year 2024-2025.

The Group also encourages the management offices of the sites of
operation to apply for various environmental certifications whenever
possible. In 2024, 2 sites of operation (management offices of Shui Pin
Wai Estate and Tin Yiu Estate) were awarded the title of Hong Kong
Green Organisation for their efforts in conserving energy, reducing waste
and other aspects of environmental management, while other sites were
awarded the EnergyWi$e certificates and WasteWi$e certificates. In
addition, all sites of operation and the headquarter office have joined the
Energy Saving Charter 2024 organised by the Environment Bureau and the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department in a bid to save energy.

During the reporting year, the Group did not produce any hazardous waste
in its operation.
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Climate Change

During the reporting year, the Group conducted a comprehensive review
of the materiality of its operations in relation to the impacts of climate
change. Given that the Group’s business activities produce minimal
environmental impact and that its operational sites and supply chain are
not significantly exposed to or affected by extreme weather events, the
influence of climate change on the Group’s business remains limited.

Nonetheless, the Group identifies possible impacts on our business
operation related to climate change and keeps record of these impacts for
long-term analysis. The impacts identified include:

o Over-time working hours to cope with extra workload brought about
by typhoon, rainstorm and other extreme weather

o Provision of 150% of wages to non-skilled employees for working
under Typhoon Warning Signal No. 8 or above

o Landscape and slope maintenance before and after typhoon,
rainstorm and other extreme weather

o Facility maintenance and safety precautions before and after
typhoon, rainstorm and other extreme weather

The Environment and Natural Resources

Although Modern Living does not have any significant direct impact on the
environment and natural resources, the Group acknowledges that property
operations can affect the surrounding environment. Consequently, we
remain committed to promoting environmental protection within our
communities.

The Group adheres to all applicable laws and regulations concerning
emissions, which include, but are not limited to, the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, the Water Pollution Control Ordinance, and the Waste Disposal
Ordinance of Hong Kong. During the reporting year, there were no
instances of non-compliance related to environmental regulations.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

Modern Living is committed to upholding a high standard of corporate
governance and business integrity in all its business activities. The Group's
Supply Chain Management, Product Responsibility and Anti-corruption
Policy Statement sets out objectives and requirements regarding ethical
practices in business operations.

Supply Chain Management

By committing to responsible, equitable, and ethical business practices,
we foster long-term relationships with our suppliers, thereby establishing
a fair and responsible supply chain. In addition to adhering to the HA’s
Procurement and Supplies Instructions, which mandate the Group to
obtain prior approval for procurement of products and services that exceed
a specified threshold at operational sites, the Group has outlined its own
approach to managing environmental and social risks within the supply
chain. This includes:

o Incorporating suppliers’ environmental and social performance into
annual reviews;

o Identifying environmental and social risks within the supply chain;
o Establishing communication channels with suppliers.

Starting in the 2021 reporting year, we also conduct Know Your Customer
(KYC) assessments with significant suppliers to gain insights into their ESG-
related practices and to effectively communicate our ESG policy to them.

Product Responsibility

Customer health and safety

As a service provider, we are committed to ensuring a safe and healthy
environment for residents and the general public accessing our housing
estates. We conduct regular inspections of all escalators and lifts at our
operational sites to guarantee the reliability and safety of these systems
for building users. Additionally, annual fire drills, involving both staff
and resident representatives, are carried out to enhance emergency
response capabilities in property management and to promote fire safety
awareness among residents. We also collaborate closely with government
departments to improve the residential and communal environment at our
operational sites, including initiatives related to pest control.
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Customer satisfaction

The Group is dedicated to enhancing customer service and managing
complaints through established procedures. To achieve this objective, we
provide services in accordance with the standards outlined in the Property
Service Agents Performance Assessment System Manual. These standards
encompass service quality benchmarks related to estate management,
including cleaning, security, and soft landscaping, as well as the protocols
for addressing complaints and requests.

The performance of our operational sites is evaluated through monthly
audits and compliance checks, which consist of four key components:

1. Ascore table assessing various service items and standards;

2. A checklist for compliance with environmental management
practices;

3. Assessor comments, which may include descriptive feedback,
recommendations, or commendations; and

4. Photographic documentation of the areas inspected.

The operational sites implement remedial measures as indicated by the
audit results to optimise service delivery workflows. When follow-up
actions are necessary, the Group is committed to executing these remedial
measures within a reasonable timeframe.

Customer privacy

Modern Living is dedicated to safeguarding the personal data of our
customers. In recognition of clients’ privacy rights, the Group has
established the Guideline on Protection of Customer Data and the
Guidance on CCTV Surveillance. These documents provide frontline
employees with clear instructions and procedures for the appropriate
management and protection of personal information pertaining to
individuals, including residents, tenants, and visitors. Access to tenant
information is limited to authorised personnel using designated computers
with password protection, while footage from surveillance cameras is
exclusively available to designated staff members performing specific
security management functions.
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Marketing communications

The Group ensures that information about our services is readily accessible
through both printed communication materials and digital platforms. These
channels empower stakeholders, including customers and shareholders,
to make informed decisions. In line with our policy statement, we are
committed to marketing our services responsibly, adhering to relevant
regulatory requirements, and providing reliable information to our
customers.

The Group complies with applicable laws and regulations concerning
product responsibility, including, but not limited to, the Building
Management Ordinance, the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, and the
Competition Ordinance of Hong Kong. During the reporting year, there
was no instance of non-compliance related to product responsibility.

Anti-corruption

Conducting our business with honesty, integrity, and fairness is
fundamental to our operations. Our Staff Disciplinary Code establishes
the standards and practices regarding anti-bribery and anti-corruption.
According to the Code, directors and employees are strictly prohibited from
accepting any advantages from tenants, license holders, residents, visitors,
or others while performing their duties. Such advantages may include gifts,
loans, fees, rewards, employment opportunities, services, or favours.

Additionally, we have implemented whistleblower procedures that
allow employees to report concerns regarding potential misconduct or
non-compliance by employees, suppliers, or business partners through
a dedicated email address, ensuring they can do so without fear of
retaliation. Any reported cases will be forwarded to senior management,
which includes the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, and Directors of
Human Resources and Operations. The Group is committed to handling
each reported case with the appropriate procedures and maintaining
confidentiality.

The Group adheres to all relevant laws and regulations related to
corruption, including, but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong. During the reporting year, there was no incident
of non-compliance or legal issues related to corruption.
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SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS BB ENIEERE

Environmental Performance RIBEN
Air Emissions Quantity
B8 SR B Y B
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) 0.00
BEY
Sulphur oxides (SO,) 0.00
maty
Respiratory suspended particles (RSP) 0.00
AT IR A BRF R F
WEH G Quantity
BEY b
Total hazardous waste produced Not available
MELRERENEE i A
Total non-hazardous waste produced 3.013
MEEEEEZENEE
Intensity of non-hazardous waste produced (by number of employees) 0.002

MELBERZNEE CAMEE ABGTHE)

Energy Use Quantity
BEIRBE A =1
Total energy consumption 660.67
gElREEE

Intensity of energy consumption (by number of employees) 0.39

REREREE UAEE ARG E)

Unit
B

Kilogram
NI
Kilogram
N
Kilogram

AR

Unit
By

tonnes

145

tonnes

]
tonnes/person

WA, A

Unit
By

MWh
KN
MWh/person
KN A

Unit

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Quantity
BER BN b
Scope 1 emissions 0.00
#HE1HEm
Scope 2 emissions 443.35
HE 2 HEm
Scope 3 emissions 55.49
#HE3HEM
Total carbon emissions 498.84
gz 37
Intensity of carbon emissions (by number of employees) 0.30

BN E (S ARG
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Water Use Quantity Unit

Ak = B

Total water consumption 2,841.5 m?3
wmiEkE AV
Intensity of water consumption (by number of employees) 1.69 m>/person
FKBE (CAMEB ABGHE) SLI A

Packaging materials

BEMH

Total packaging materials used
FTABEMEREE

Packaging materials used per unit produced
FTABEMHEEESENGE

Social Performance

Quantity/Unit
BBy

Not applicable (The office operations and business nature of the
Group in the reporting scope do not involve use of packaging
materials for finished products.)

TNER (AEBRBRESEANREREEREFEENS REM
RmBEMEEER )

HEEX

Number of work-

Number of related injuries Number of

work-related due to high-risk lost days due to

injuries tasks work injury

ESEEIED RIB\EX

THEEE TE8HE IB#E

Male Es 21 6 342

Female z 36 4 2,783

Total B 57 10 3,125

Number of

Employees

Workforce (as of 31 Dec 2024)

EEAH

(202412831 H

=1 ZFC %)

Full-time (including body-shopped staff who works outside of the above sites of operation) 1,588

2B (BEN LS ENR N TIENEEERET)

Part-time 89
B

Total 1,677
BB

HEEEERARRNT 2024 FEHRE
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Workforce
(as of 31 Dec 2024) Below 30 Total Total
&8 30 5%
(20245 12A31R) R DIEBAY B
Male Directors (including
non-executive
directors) 0 0 3 9 12
ES E=(BE
FBITESE) =
Senior management 0 2 11 26 39
SREERE
Middle management 8 20 13 40 81
RRERE
General staff 47 26 22 445 540
—RREE
Female Directors (including
non-executive
directors) 0 1 0 2 3
ks s (BE
#%ﬂﬂi%) 1.005
Senior management 0 2 5 4 11
aBREEE
Middle management 4 12 6 26 48
RRERRE
General staff 24 28 84 807 943
—REE
Total workforce* 83 91 144 1,359 1,677
EE @~
& Including body-shopped staff who work outside of the above sites of operation * BFER it BB BN T (Fay (ARE A S T
Male-to-female ratio of total workforce (including Directors) B & (5B B A& L (R IEESE) 1:1.50
Male-to-female ratio of total workforce (excluding Directors) BZ{h{EE A& O (TREEE) 1:1.52
Number of work-related fatalities ATEREMILT A AZ 0
Rate of work-related fatalities TERAR ML T AL =R 0
Community Investment
HERE
Number of volunteer hours of employees in community activities 565
EE2HET Rt [R)E R
Amount of contribution (HKD) 617,451

UEBEREBHRCET)
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (BIE  -HERERMKEESD
EAE A

Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks

EERE RE BREFE

A1. General Disclosure Information on: 150
(@  the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
Al —RRIERE EHERRAEREER RKELHHEES EEREE
FBEEMNEESH
(@ B &
by BETFHBOTAFTEATENHEBEZERRANEER

Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 150

BEmmiE R R R P BUR

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) (kilogram) 158
A& (RT)
Sulphur oxides (SO,) (kilogram) 158
maEw (RT)
Particulate matter (PM) (kilogram) 158

ARABERF (RFT)

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (tonnes) 150
BERBEBBENE (W)

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions 150
(tonnes CO,-e/no. of employee)

BERBHREE(M_EtkEs EESE)

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (tonnes) 158

FRELREEEYMEE (W)

Intensity of total hazardous waste produced (tonnes/square feet) 158

PMEAREREYRERE (B, F7HR)
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Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks

EERE RE BEREFE

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (tonnes) 158

FRELBEREZYEE (W)

Intensity of non-hazardous waste produced 158
(tonnes/no. of employee)

FMELREEEYTE (W EESHE)

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved 151

OB R PE R E M e R TS AR

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 152
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved
HIEREEERESEEVN AL REELENREER
FrB R

A2. General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water 151
and other raw materials.

A2, —MRIXER BRERER(BIERIR K REAMRME) B R
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, 158

gas or oil) in total (MWNh).
WA (FInEH - ERER) B NERE R SKHEEERA

2 KL /NEF)
Direct energy (GJ) 158
BEEER(FE)
Indirect energy (MWh) 158

LikEEAC TN

Direct and/or indirect energy intensity by type (e.g. electricity, gasor 158
oil) (MWh/no. of employee)

REEE (PIME S - BRI Bl DN EE R IEEERS

B OKR/\E/ BEHE)
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Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks
EERE AE BR B
A2.2 Water consumption in total (m3) 152

HBFEKE (LA K)

Water intensity (tonnes/no. of employee) 159

FXEE (W BE&E)

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved 151

ftge R E AR B KA ERR

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit 152
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved
i SKERBER /KR AT B EMBEE - ARREAB KRS
B RATERR

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (tonnes) 159
ERmPr AN EE ()

Packaging material intensity (tonnes/unit of product) 159
BEMBEE (W, ZERELL)

A3. General Disclosure  Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the 154
environment and natural resources.

A3, —RRIERE WIRBITABRERRAREREKERZERBR -
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 154

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them
HEBEHEHRRRRAERNEAZEZRERNER
EHEXENTH -
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Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks

EERE RE BEREFE

B1. General Disclosure Information on: 142
(@  the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

Bl. —MFE EHRFHEEE BERER IEHS BRYE F=5
e Zopl - RIER AR EMEFEMEFA
(@ BR: &

(b) ETHBTAGEAZENHBEEZNAINER

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and 160
geographical region

RIER - BEFEL  FhAR IR EDNES AR

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical ~ N/A
region

RIER - FERAR KRS 58 E S B K

B2. General Disclosure Information on: 142
(@)  the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

B2. —MiHE EHRRELZE2THEREAREES#CHBEMTEN
(@ B &
(b) BIFHBITAGEATZENHBEEIENBHINER -

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities 160

RITEBEMMETHABKIL X -

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury 159
EIBELXIERS -
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, 143

how they are implemented and monitored

AP RAR BRI RE R 2R - ARBERATRERT L -
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Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks

EERE RE BEREFE

B3. General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 144
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

B3. —MIKHE ERRAEE BT TERE M A IR AEMEUR - g IES) -
B4. General Disclosure Information on: 146

(@  the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.
B4. —MRIEEE BEEP IEE TR b4 TH)
(@ BE: K
by BFHBRITABEATEZNMEAEIRRBANER

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid 147
child and forced labour
R R E G B AR R E T RoRHIS T -

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 147
discovered

i B ERBRRIERE BIS N ERI F 8 -

B5. General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply 155

chain.
B5. —MRIFHE BIRMHEEMNIRE RS RBBUR
B6. General Disclosure Information on: 155

(@)  the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.

B6. —MiFE EERHEERNBREHEREEZSE  BELS ZEELEBEE
ONE D BN : I
(@ BER: &

(b) ETHBTAGEAZENHEBEIEZNAMNES -

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how 156
they are implemented and monitored

OB BEEERRERLBEE - URBERTRERE -
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Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks

EERE RE BEREFE

B7. General Disclosure Information on: 157
(@  the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

B7. —MEE ERIBHLEFEER - R - HEERIEEEM -
(@ BEK: &
(b) BEFHBITABEAZENHEEERMROINER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 157
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases
RERBANUBTAXEEEREVETANEITHA
RUOEE RFAER -

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, 157
how they are implemented and monitored
Rt [y 8545 b SR B IRAR T - ARMEBRIT RER X -

B8. General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 148
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

B8. —MIKEE FRANHR2ERTREEMEHEFTZNMERELER
BB EERHEENSABR

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 148
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

BIEREE (K5 BREFE  BIFK  #F Xt B85 -

B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area 160
HEEIEEMHAER -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities of the Group for the TX &I ANEEBE AT HRFENES
last three financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial MAREERBEHRZ - DEEEE TIELE
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below: SHETSIRR RS ET R EF A (WERA) ¢

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FBT FAET FAT FAET FAT
Revenue Uz 379,106 334,240 405,987 479,758 459,415
Other income HAn g A 1,823 3,845 11,022 2,067 9,046
Other (losses)/gains, net Hith (B518), Wz 558 (531) (968) (2,078) (1,072) 307
Employee benefits expenses EERARXL (343,489) (301,075) (368,888) (407,346) (392,667)
Subcontractor fee DEER - = = (18,132) (26,124)
Cleaning material costs BRI R (2,452) (2,774) (4,807) (6,057) (6,643)
Utilities expenses UNEES 355 (1,110) (1,231) (1,316) (1,574) (1,993)
Depreciation of plant and WE R ETE
equipment (604) (630) (737) (972) (1,082)
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets (881) (923) (925) (951) (996)
Reversal of trade receivables E 5 e W B #E (o] - = 367 444 (811)
Other operating expenses HEMgEms (16,716)  (14,751)  (15,068)  (15,956)  (16,260)

Share of result of investments DERAEREART
accounted for using the equity ~ &4

method - (662) (118) — —
Operating profits  #®&&® 15146 15,071 23439 30209 22,192
Finance income, net ~ MBMBAF® 5105 4745 53 51 216).
Profit before income tax B P15 T4 A% A 20,251 19,816 23,592 30,260 21,976
Income tax expense FRr 5% 5 2 (3,286) (2,042) (2,412) (4,803) (2,536)
Profit for the year F a7 16,965 17,774 21,180 25,457 19,440

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS AR F#EHE AELL
OF THE COMPANY 16,965 17,774 21,180 25,457 19,440
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B R
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET T TT T T T T THTT
Total assets BB E 220,109 209,529 201,983 209,288 190,339
Total liabilities wEE 66,110 53,353 51,692 64,553 57,661
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